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“REMT is the leading enterprise in rare earth magnesium alloys new materials,
we are determined to build a better future with you.”
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

[BMERELR - BOB

“It’s time to set sail, concentrate and mo ‘~ 1]

— Lt
Shum Sai Chit

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”’), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “REMT Group”
or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”) for all stakeholders to review.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2021, China's magnesium industry has experienced an extraordinary year and has reached a new historical
moment. The magnesium alloy materials have helped the “Tianwen-1" probe to land on the surface of Mars
successfully. It assisted Tianhe Core Module (KF14%Z/0ME) to enter the space station. It has been used for magnesium
battery materials and magnesium building templates. The development of green and low-carbon magnesium
smelting technology together with the abovementioned application of magnesium have depicted a beautiful
“magnesium” landscape. As a lightweight and functional material, the magnesium material will play an important
role and make more significant achievements in promoting green, low-carbon, and high-quality development.

“DUAL CONTROL OF TOTAL ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND ENERGY INTENSITY” POLICY CONSTRAINING BOTH SUPPLY
AND DEMAND

Affected by fluctuations of international commodity prices, the prices of raw and auxiliary materials for magnesium
production in China, such as coal and ferrosilicon, have increased significantly. In addition, driven by the “Barometer
of Completion of the Dual Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity in All Regions in H1 2021" ([ 2021
F A FEUEREFEE T B IZEKIB B (referred to as the “Dual Control of Total Energy Consumption and
Energy Intensity” policy) released by the Chinese government, the price of raw magnesium has been soaring. It
represents a large increase of 89% from the historic high in 2008, hitting a new high in 14 years. Then the price of
magnesium fluctuated in a sharp rise and a slight pullback. According to the statistics of China Non-ferrous Metals
Association, the lowest price of magnesium in 2021 was RMB 13,950/ton, and the highest price was RMB 70,000/ton;
the annual average price was RMB 25,244 /ton, representing an increase of 86% year-on-year. The sharp fluctuations
in magnesium prices have led downstream processing and applied companies taking a wait-and-see approach.
They place orders cautiously, resulting in weaker demand. The current high magnesium price has suppressed
the production and demand of downstream, having an impact on the sustainable development of the magnesium
market.

MR EERBR AR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The implementation of the “Dual Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy has had a huge
impact on magnesium production enterprises. However, in the medium and long term, the tightened policy will make
high energy-consuming enterprises increase their costs on energy conservation and consumption reduction. Hence
the magnesium price is unlikely to fall. Such policy can shut down certain inefficient and high-polluting enterprises,
and to a certain extent, curbing inefficient overcapacity.

ADVANCING STABLY AND PROFOUNDLY WITH BREAKTHROUGH AND INNOVATION

The magnesium alloy, as is known to us all, is an ideal material for lightweight automobiles. Automotive lightweight
can reduce fuel consumption and carbon dioxide emissions, and in turn improve fuel efficiency. The lightweight
advantages of magnesium provide more solutions to reduce the weight of new energy vehicles' body and battery
pack to boost vehicles' range. Magnesium alloys are also widely used in other transportation, 3C electronics, and
aerospace sectors. According to the statistics of China Non-ferrous Metals Association, every 0.45 kg weight loss for
commercial aircrafts can bring economic benefits of US$300, while every 0.45 kg weight loss for spacecraft can save
US$30,000. In addition, the innovative development and application of magnesium and magnesium alloys have been
expanding, especially its new market in solid-state energy storage, intelligent manufacturing, medical health, 5G
base stations, and other fields. Under the requirements of the Chinese government to promote energy conservation
and green development, it is expected to promote the further growth of the consumption market of magnesium alloy
materials, bringing opportunities and challenges to the development of the magnesium industry.

In order to promote the green development of the magnesium industry, on December 3, 2021, the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of China issued the “14th Five-Year Plan for Industrial Green Development” (referred to
as the "Plan”), proposing to implement the technology and equipment transformation for the magnesium smelting
industry, such as the vertical retorts magnesium smelting technology. The innovative technologies of vertical tank
reduction process adopted by the Group's subsidiary — Xinjiang Tengxiang (¥T#=&#}) is promoted by the “Plan”.
The vertical reduction process has the characteristics of high mechanisation, small foot-print, less labor, low labor
intensity, small investment, and low energy consumption, being the key direction for transforming and upgrading the
magnesium industry. Xinjiang Tengxiang has been adopting vertical tank reduction magnesium smelting technology
for many years, and has been recognised as a national “High and Advanced Technology Enterprise”.
The Group attaches great importance to technological innovation and owns 22 technical
patents for the production technology and manufacturing method of high-performance
magnesium alloys. In pursuing “Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality”, the Group will adhere to green
manufacturing, and ensure the production and sustainable development, while advancing
stably and profoundly.

HEF
Patents
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

PROSPECT - “SETTING SAIL AND MOVING FORWARD"

Looking back on 2021, due to the sharp increase in raw materials’ costs and the implementation of the “Dual Control
of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy, magnesium enterprises have experienced sharp price
fluctuations. However, the green, environmentally friendly, and sustainable application of magnesium brings vitality
to the magnesium industry, as well as challenges to the supply and demand sides of the industry. We believe that the
industrial advantages of magnesium and its alloy new materials will remain for a long time. The distinctive strengths
of magnesium and its alloy products have been recognised and utilised in the downstream field. It will surely usher
in new opportunities to expand its application. As one of the early magnesium enterprises, the Company will solidly
solve our problems in the new year, focus on green and low-carbon production, enjoy the benefits given to the
magnesium industry in the new era, and jointly promote the healthy and sustainable development of the magnesium
industry.

Since the Company applied to the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the “Bermudian Court”) in July 2020 for the
appointment of provisional liquidators, the Company has overcome obstacles ahead to maintain normal operations,
while continuously discussing with creditors on the debt restructuring plan. After one and a half years’ efforts, the
Creditors’ Scheme raised by the Company was approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors
on 1 March 2022, which enables the Company to pay off the debts in phrases within the next five years. Going
forward, the Company will discharge provisional liquidation in accordance with the procedures and requirements of
the Bermudian Court and other relevant statutory bodies, and get back on the healthy track.

On behalf of the Group, | wish to thank our shareholders, members of the Board, customers, bankers, and
business partners for their invaluable support. | would also like to express my sincere thanks to creditors for their
understanding, and to all the staff for their dedication and hard work. | would like to thank all for the unfailing
support and the total confidence in the Company. We will not forget our original aspiration. We will continue to move
forward, and live up to the trust and support of all stakeholders. It's time to set sail, concentrate and move forward
again!

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022

MERHEEEZER AR AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MREERE FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY
—E-EE C—ZB-hE
2020 2019
FExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

(1REX) (RER) (RBEX)

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
WA Revenue 416,060 744,836 1,515,291
EH Gross profit 68,775 130,171 416,206
EFIE Gross profit margin 16.5% 17.5% 27.5%
BRI E R FE (A% %) EBITDA (recurring) 35,835 133,220 447,150
BEREETERAEE EBITDA margin 8.6% 17.9% 29.5%

KARHEE AFEMG (Loss)/profit attributable to

(EB8),/ & f owners of the Company (331,883) (74,011) 209,732
| P Net profit margin TEAN/A NEA N/A 13.8%

BERE Total asset 2,360,619 2,556,832 2,554,324
TR Total equity 1,188,942 1,451,922 1,387,887
RITHE(BEDEF Cash at banks (including

RITHFER) pledged bank deposits) 35,568 46,289 271,690

BELE Gearing ratio 37.1% 34.1%

FEBEBELEK EBITDA/Interest 0.52 1.36 6.20
% AU 25 2 Return on equity TEA N/A B N/A 15.1%

12 N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was HK$416,060,000 (2020: HK$744,836,000), representing a year-on-
year decrease of 44.1%; the overall gross profit margin decreased 1% to 16.5%, the loss attributable to shareholders
was HK$331,883,000 (2020: HK$74,011,000).
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EEHENmR DT (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The decrease in revenue of the Group by approximately HK$328,776,000 or 44.1% is mainly due to the lingering
constraints to working capital of the Group as a result of the influence of the Group's offshore debt restructuring.
Since the Company applied to the Supreme Court of Bermuda for provisional liquidation for debt restructuring
purpose in July 2020, suppliers and customers have been more cautious about orders due to the impact of the
offshore debt restructuring and the increased costs of raw materials. The receivable collection cycle extended from
79 days in 2020 to 141 days inin 2021.

As such, the total sales volume of products of the Group decreased to 16,901 tonnes during the Year from 39,156
tonnes for 2020, bringing about a significant impact on the results of the Group for 2021.

The EBITDA of the Year decreased by HK$97,385,000 or 73.1% to HK$35,835,000 (2020: HK$133,220,000).

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately HK$4,381,000 (2020: HK$8,506,000), which mainly comprised
of marketing expenses and sales staff wages. Selling and distribution expenses to revenue ratio was approximately
1.1% (2020: 1.1%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised of expenses such as staff remuneration, depreciation and amortization,
audit and professional fees and research and development. The administrative expenses for the Year was
approximately HK$99,610,000 (2020: HK$98,952,000), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
HK$658,000 or 0.7%.

Impairment and Allowance

In 2021, the provision for impairment loss on non-current assets of approximately HK$183,577,000 (2020: HK$Nil),
which is non-recurring and non-cash in nature, is recognized due to the continuous loss-making performance of the
Group's magnesium business. In addition, the allowance for expected credit loss on trade receivables have been
increased from approximately HK$1,659,000 in 2020 to approximately HK$53,243,000 in 2021.

Finance Costs

Finance cost was approximately HK$69,401,000 (2020: HK$97,857,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately HK$28,456,000 or 29.1%. Including in the finance cost in 2020 was the effective interest of
HK$51,728,000 (with effective interest rate of approximately 14.6% per annum) in respect of the convertible bonds
issued to the controlling shareholder, Ming Xin Developments Limited in November 2017. The convertible bonds
were expired on 30 November 2020 and became repayable on demand and carried interest at a rate of 4% per
annum in 2021.

The decrease in finance costs is the combined effect of: (i) the decrease in finance costs for the convertible bonds
aforementioned; netting-off (ii) the full year effect of default interests recognised subsequent to the cross default of
certain debts of the Group since July 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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EEREB WK (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The EBITDA of the Year decreased by HK$97,385,000 or 73.1% to HK$35,835,000 (2020: HK$133,220,000). The
interest coverage decreased to 0.52 times. The Group's borrowing rate/gearing ratio was 37.1%. At the end of the
Year, cash in bank (including pledged bank deposits) was HK$35,568,000.

Possible Debt Restructuring and the Appointment of Joint Provisional Liquidators for Restructuring Purposes

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited ("CS”) is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding approximately
72.31% shareholding interest in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary Ming Xin Developments
Limited. CS defaulted in its redemption of its subordinated notes listed on SGX in aggregate principal amount of
SDG101,750,000 that matured on 3 July 2020. Amongst others, Ming Xin Developments Limited is a guarantor of
the notes. The CS's default constitutes an event of default in respect of certain borrowings of the Group, causing the
cross default.

On 3 July 2020 (Bermuda time), the Company has filed to the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the “Bermuda Court”) a
winding up petition ("Petition”) together with the application for the appointment of the “light touch” joint provisional
liquidators (the “JPLs") for restructuring purpose. The board of directors of the Company will retain management of
the Company, while the JPLs will work alongside the Company’s management to, monitor, supervise, and oversee
the implementation of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of its debts and liabilities including to
maintain the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The JPLs Application was heard before the Bermuda Court on 16 July 2020 (Bermuda time). An order was granted
by the Bermuda Court for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young
Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd., and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd., (collectively,
the "JPLs") as the “light-touch” joint provisional liquidators of the Company for restructuring purposes, with the
power to act jointly and severally.

On 7 August 2020, the Bermuda Court issued a letter of request ("LOR") to the High Court of Hong Kong (the "High
Court”) for the recognition of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong Kong to, inter alia, develop and
propose a restructuring plan to allow the Company to continue as a going concern. The Bermuda Court also accepted
the resignation of one of the JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David on the same day. The JPLs appointment order remains
in force in respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as JPLs. An application has been
filed by the JPLs to the High Court on 21 August 2020 for the recognition of the appointment and powers of the JLPs
pursuant to the LOR. On 25 August 2020, the High Court has approved the said application.

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC acting on
behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the “Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021 against the Company
in the High Court for an order that the Company be wound up by the High Court. The Petition was filed against the
Company for its failure to repay the Petitioner an outstanding principal of the notes together with the unpaid interest
and default interest in an aggregate amount of US$20,707,777.78, which was pursuant to a subscription agreement
of 7% unsubordinated and unsecured notes due 2020 in a principal amount of US$20,000,000 entered into between
the Petitioner as subscriber and the Company as the issuer dated 7 August 2017. The Petition was rearranged to
hear before the High Court on 27 May 2022. Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company to update the
latest information for shareholders and investors of the Company in relation to the Petition.

On 12 January 2022, the High Court has directed that a formal creditors’ meeting (the “Scheme Meeting”), of all
Scheme Creditors to be convened for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, approving (with or without
modification) the Scheme proposed to be made between the Company and the Creditors and for the purpose of
considering and, if thought fit, approving (with or without modification) the appointment of a scheme creditors’
committee. The Creditors’ Scheme comprises:

(i) the Term Extention Option;
(i) the Convertible Bond Swap Option; and

(iii) a combination of the aforementioned two options.
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EEREB WK (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Each scheme creditor with Admitted Claims is entitled, to the extent of the total value of his/her/its Admitted
Claim(s), to elect between options (i), (ii) and (iii) above. The Company proposed to implement, subject to the
approval by the Hong Kong Court, the Creditors’ Scheme. Details of the Creditors’ Scheme and the rules of capital
reorganisation, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2022.

On 1 March 2022, the Creditors’ Scheme proposed by the Company was approved by the requisite statutory
majorities of the scheme creditors at the Adjourned Scheme Meeting. The Company will submit the results of the
Adjourned Scheme Meeting to the Hong Kong Court and will apply to the Hong Kong Court for the sanctioning of the
Creditors’ Scheme. The Sanction Hearing is scheduled on 27 May 2022.

Announcement(s) setting out further update on the development of Creditors’ Scheme will be made by the Company
as and when appropriate.

Validation order

Pursuant to Section 166(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, any disposition of the property of the Company,
including things in action, and any transfer of shares of the Company (the “Shares”), or alteration in the status of
the members of the Company, made after the commencement of the winding-up, shall, unless the Bermuda Court
otherwise orders, be void. The Company has sought legal advice that it is advisable for the Company to apply
validation order in Hong Kong in respect of the transfer of fully paid-up Shares.

The Company wishes to update that, such validation order in respect of all transfers in the fully paid-up shares have
been granted by Hong Kong High Court dated 23 February 2022.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries in magnesium product business underperformed
and incurred losses due to the constraints to working capital. In addition, as affected by fluctuations of international
commodity prices, the prices of raw and auxiliary materials for magnesium production in China, such as coal and
ferrosilicon, have increased significantly. Also, driven by the “Dual Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy
Intensity” policy released by the Chinese government, the price of raw magnesium has been soaring. The sharp
fluctuations in magnesium prices have led downstream processing and applied companies taking a wait-and-
see approach. They place orders cautiously, resulting in weaker demand. The current high magnesium price has
suppressed the production and demand of downstream, having an impact on the sustainable development of the
magnesium market.

In view of the economic performance of the cash generating unit ("CGU") of magnesium product business which was
worse than expected, management of the Group concluded there was an indication for impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with carrying
amounts of HK$1,626,848,000, HK47,994,000 and HK$25,406,000 respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of CGU, to which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of corporate assets when reasonable and consistent
basis can be established. The sum of present value free cash flow and carrying amounts of assets of CGU was
approximately HK$1,750,470,000.
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EEREB WK (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management of the Group covering the following 5
years as at 31 December 2021 with the pre-tax discount rate of 14.71% and the corporate tax rate of 25%. The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 2% growth rate, which is based on the industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculated is the budgeted gross margin with a range of approximately 22% to 26%, which is
determined based on the cash-generating unit's past performance and management expectations for the market
development.

The Group engaged Roma Appraisals Limited, independent valuer, as the valuer to perform the valuations of the
CGUs of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

The board of directors and audit committee of the Group considered that the basis and assumptions used for
preparing the cash flow projection and the valuation methodology, basis and assumptions used for preparing the
valuation report were reasonable and appropriate.

DISCLAIMER OPINION RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the "2021 results”), the Company’s auditors issued disclaimer of opinion on the material
uncertainties relating to the going concern basis ("Disclaimer of Opinion”), in which they were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management to use the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements because management's plans for
future actions (the “Action Plan”) in relation to its going concern assessment could not be finalised yet and therefore
issued a disclaimer of opinion on the results of the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group (the "Management”) is taking the best efforts to agree on and execute the Action Plan.
Taking into account the successful and continued implementation of the proposed restructuring, the Management is
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
in the foreseeable future, and hence it is appropriate to prepare the Group's consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The Management assessed that there is no material impact on the Group's financial position in
light of the Disclaimer of Opinion, as the going concern Issue could be resolved by the Action Plan devised.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the auditors regarding the Disclaimer of Opinion, considering
that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Management on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends on the outcome of the measures under management’'s assumptions, which are subject to
multiple uncertainties. In all other respects, in the opinion of the auditors, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Audit Committee takes the same view as the Board and agreed with the Management's position concerning the
going concern issue and Disclaimer of Opinion based on the reasons above.

MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND BASIS ON THE GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

As detailed in Note 3 to this consolidated financial statement, conditions existed as at 31 December 2021 indicating
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt regarding the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. The management of the Company has been actively negotiated with the JPLs and the creditors on
debt restructuring by way of scheme of arrangement involving, among others, equity-to-debt swap and extension
of repayment period. The scheme meeting was held on 1 March 2022, the Creditors’ Scheme was approved by the
requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors. The Company will submit the result of the scheme meeting
to the Hong Kong Court and will apply to the Hong Kong Court for the sanctioning of the Creditors” Scheme. The
Sanction Hearing is scheduled on 27 May 2022.

In addition, the Company will continue to seek potential investment in the Company from third party investor(s) to
facilitate raising of cash for the Company. The Company has also implemented cost control measures on capital
investments, production and administrative operations to reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Assuming the successful implementation of the creditor's scheme, the Board is of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligation as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidation financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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EEREB WK (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOREIGN CURRENCIES AND TREASURY POLICY

Most of the Group's business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars or Renminbi. The usual treasury policy of the Group is to manage significant currency exposure and minimize
currency risk whenever it may have material impact to the Group. During the Year, the Group did not engage in any
interest rate or currencies speculations.

EMPLOYEES RELATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has 365 employees (2020: 382 employees). In addition to remuneration, the
Group also provides annual leave, medical insurance, provident fund and other fringe benefits for its staff.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group's businesses. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business objectives arising from the
movement in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The management of our
Group keeps continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner against such risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from primarily with respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.
The Group’s management does not expect the net foreign currency risk from these activities to be significant and
hence, the Group does not presently hedge the foreign exchange risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities held in currencies other than Hong
Kong Dollars to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging instruments when
necessary.

Interest rate risk
For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis
and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our customers. In order to minimise the credit risk,
management of the Group has authorised a team responsible for determining credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The procedures
required that all clients were regularly assessed so that the Group could keep track of their transaction records and
credit history.
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EEREB WK (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

During year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded loss of approximately HK$331,883,000, and, as of that
date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$483,515,000. Further, as at 31
December 2021, the Group's current borrowings amounted to approximately HK$876,043,000 while its cash and
cash equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$25,078,000. As disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements,
the Group is exposed to liquidity risk if it is not able to raise sufficient fund to meet its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group, details of which
are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with functional departments of
the Group and its subsidiaries. Key function of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures, limits of
authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess key operational exposures and effect raised in
business development regularly, implement relevant measures and improve the internal control so that risk can be
responded and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its return period relative to the expected return
or occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable to changes of external factors. The Group is
well aware of the importance of exploring various business opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and
implemented this as the key task of the year. Key concern of projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will
be made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our Group would be
submitted to the Board.

MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the Group's rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business which would meet with our business objectives.
Our Group will periodically conduct a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as incentive
mechanism and optimize the compensation structure so as to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably
with market standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment channels are broadened and the
talent pool of senior management are strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion opportunities and career
path of employees. Systematic staff training are also being further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of
training and the dissemination of corporate cultures and values.
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EEREB WK (R)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means that the PRC Government is paying increasing attention
to environmental rules and policies and is imposing more stringent regulatory requirements. The Group's
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have been operating for a long while which might lag behind in
certain environmental and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group monitors impact on
business development closely raised from movements of environmental policy and external factors. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to improving
and maintaining the long term sustainability of the communities in which it operates. The Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve
efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures have been adopted
in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and water
saving practices.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China while the Company
is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group's operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 365 as at 31 December 2021. The remuneration of
employees was determined by the Group with reference to their performance, work experience and current market
conditions. Employee benefits include annual leave, medical insurance and provident fund scheme. There has been
no labour dispute or significant change in the relationship with the employees that affect the normal operations of
the Group. The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners, shareholders,
investors and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders closely, the Group has
formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored activities from time to time,
such as annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our senior
management has kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business latest update about
development of the Group with our stakeholders when appropriate. During the year, there was no material dispute
between our Group and its business partners or banks.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group's dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing magnesium products of the Group. The transportation
cost for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2021, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions
of estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was
reviewed by the Group's internal geological experts. For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no dolomite
output. As compared with the state as at 31 December 2020, there was no material change in the resource estimate
and ore reserve of the dolomite mine.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approximately
HK$Nil while the expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was HK$Nil.
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices in
accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned below, the
Company has established the relevant committees/sub-committee
and adopted certain internal policies to improve internal controls
and enhance transparency of business operation of the Group with
a view to protect the interests of its stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as disclosed in “Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer” section.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the "Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the Group regarding
securities transactions of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) on terms no less exactly than required standard set out
in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2021.
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THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following five Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its financial
performance, including preparing and approving financial
statements and overseeing operational matters of the management,
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget. Daily business
operations and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices and
agenda of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at
least fourteen days before the meetings to ensure that all Directors
are given the opportunity to attend and to include matters in the
agenda. Discussion materials of regular board meetings are sent to
all Directors for their study at least three days prior to the meetings.
Draft minutes of board meetings are circulated to all Directors for
review and comments within a reasonable time after the meetings
prior to confirmation. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail of the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached.
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BEEE W) THE BOARD (continued)
EEggRkERE) Board meetings and practices (continued)

REBEE-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE During the year ended 31 December 2021, five board meetings
N ARRHBITBEAREETELR ' & were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate of
EENESTZLH  ZESLEALBREX each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and General

g2EBzHEERMNT ¢ Meetings is as follows:
ke BT ed
Attended/held

Ezg B R% B BOER
83 ZE888 Z89g3 ZEgER ZEE® RRAE

Executive
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management Members
Board Committee  Committee  Committee ~ Committee General

Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings

HTEE Executive Directors

gL Shum Sai Chit 5/5 - 17 - 1 17
" Chi Jing Chao"” 313 - - 17 1 0/1
il Chi Sile® 202 - - - - -
FHTES Non-executive Director

AfEHEY Professor Meng Jian® 23 - - = = =
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors

BN Kwong Ping Man 5/5 5/5 1 1 - 1
RER Cheung Sound Poon 5/5 5/5 - 1 - 7
[P Kwan Ngai Kit 5/5 5/5 1 - - 1
w RZTZ—FN\A—HEE m resigned on 1 August 2021

2 RZZE=_—FNA—BZFE @ appointed on 1 August 2021

@ R-E-_—FA=+HEME ) retired on 30 June 2021

B EMHBIE31001) % (2) - LA K 3.10A Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
BZHE  ARAELZERHEEB 2B sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have
VIERITES  MBYIERTEEFRINZE been appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent
VPE—REBEE SR BRVBEERESR Non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting or related
f BRI BLIIERNTESRE financial management expertise. The Board has received annual
TR R 313 6 Bh B L1 i MR Bl 4E confirmation of independence from each of its Independent Non-

2 FERERK ° executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
EEeNECETEGTERE® - % There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
% REBRHMEKR FBENER - relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes in the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time. Apart from encouraging the
Directors to participate in continuous professional development
("CPD") courses to refresh and enhance their knowledge and skills,
the Company also arranged an industry-related in-house seminar
for the Directors and provided them with reading materials relating
to the directors’ duties. All Directors have provided the Company
with their records of training they received during the year ended
31 December 2021.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during the
year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

BESXE
BREH
&g
Types of
continuous
professional
development
=2 Directors training \otes
HITEE Executive Directors
YRR Shum Sai Chit B
ot HT 4 Chi Sile B
BYFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
0D Kwong Ping Man AKB
Aand B
RAE AR Cheung Sound Poon AKB
Aand B
B Kwan Ngai Kit AKB
Aand B
B3 Notes:
A: B R R IR TR A Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

B: BERE HWEREHEARAEBREERARE
£ AR REMERAEERERMERENE
Colserik=ge]

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and

other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms of
Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(a)

(d)

to develop and review the Company’ s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company's compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2020 annual report of the
Company; and

Adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive
Officer in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, the chairman and an executive
Director, has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the
management of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of the
Group's operations and the Board considers that Mr. Shum Sai Chit
is well qualified to take up the role of the Chief Executive Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer,
the Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which
there is deviation to code provision A.2.1 of Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which provides
(among other matters) that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had been in charge of the
overall management of the Company since 2015 and the Company
considered that such arrangement would promote the efficient
formulation and implementation of the Company's strategies which
would enable the Group to further develop its businesses effectively
at this stage. The Board will review the current structure from time
to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board
considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term,
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re- election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the "Bye-laws”).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has set up four committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Executive Management Committee respectively.
Each committee is delegated with specific authorities by the Board
in assisting the Board to discharge its duties and to administer
particular aspects of the Group's activities. The roles and functions
of each committee are summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company has
adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in compliance
with code provision C.3.3 of the Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide
an independent and professional advice on financial reporting and
review the internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board of the significant
issues discussed by the Committee for the Board's information and/
or consideration.

The Audit Committee has held five meetings in the year ended 31
December 2021 and has reviewed the final results for the period
ended 31 December 2020 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2021, and confirmed that the accounting principles
and practices adopted as well as the disclosures made in such
financial statements were appropriate, accurate and fair.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continuead)

The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditors on the
scope of audit for the year ended 31 December 2021, and reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company's accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely
Mr. Shum Sai Chit (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) and two
Independent Non- executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man
and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-
executive Director. In determining and approving the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2021 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
etc.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee
with reference to code provision A.5.2 of the Code. The Nomination
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum Sai
Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man and Mr. Kwan
Ngai Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors and monitoring the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year ended
31 December 2021, together with by means of written resolutions,
to review and deal with the following major issues:

e Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

* Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.

Executive Management Committee

The Executive Management Committee was established in 2005 with
written terms of reference to operate as a general management
committee under the authority of the Board. Currently, the Executive
Management Committee comprises two Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman of the Executive Management
Committee) and Ms. Chi Sile.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board
members. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and competence, and the candidates will be considered against
certain objective criteria such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional qualifications, areas
of experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, etc. The
ultimate decision will be based on merits and contributions that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total remunerations
paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of
the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

FET
PR %% %8 5 Types of services HK$'000
EZ RS Audit services 1,000
FER Total 1,000

ERRNMBHRR 2T

BEERANSEEARENEETRATFH
RAEBEBMRRERE 2 HEHRE ©
BHE_E-—F+-_A=+—HIEE -
AEESRSE S FEIE4331,883,0008
ﬁ o

RABIZEMMESMERR CRER

ERRABNNBFHREEBELSTAL
(B AZBERE A -

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group's affairs and results. The Group recorded a consolidated
net loss of approximately HK$331,883,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 53 to 57 of this annual
report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has been
appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and Actuarial
Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and he is
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition to the Company'’s registered office. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the
“Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)
Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general
meeting if they:

(@) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly
signed by the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with must be deposited at the Company's registered office.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements. The Shareholder(s) concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act
once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to
the management and corporate governance of the Group from
Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their enquires
and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com.
hk), by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company was
updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”) on 13 June 2018 and there is no
other change in such constitutional document during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and
internal control of the Group. The system of internal control is
designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives with reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review of
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The
scope of review would cover risk management functions, financial,
operational and compliance controls, the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’'s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training programmes and
budget, etc..

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The Company
regularly reminds the directors and employees about compliance
with all policies adopted by the Company regarding inside
information including the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules in relation to dealings in securities of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the
Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between the
Company and its Shareholders:

(@) Mailing corporate communication documents such as interim
reports, annual reports and circulars to the Shareholders
periodically and uploading the same on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b) Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company's corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of
views between the Shareholders and the management of the
Company; and

(e)  Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company's website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 30 June 2021, all the resolutions
relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-election
of Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant of general
mandates to issue and repurchase shares have been duly passed.
The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held in
June 2022 or any other dates as specified in further notice of AGM
meeting to be published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 64, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the Managing
Director of Go Modern Limited which was principally engaged in
manufacturing of textile products and trading activities. In 1984,
Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and Export Corporation as
a Manager to oversee importing and exporting of textile products.
Mr. Shum is a graduate of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics.
Mr. Shum was also an executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) until 31 July 2021.

Ms. CHI Sile, aged 33, was appointed as an executive director and a
member of the Executive Management Committee of the Company
on 1 August 2021. Prior to her appointment, she was the director of
investor relations department of Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 509) and responsible for managing investor
relations. Ms. Chi holds a MBA degree from the University of Hong
Kong and a double degree of Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts
from the University of Western Australia. Ms. Chi is a member of the
Hong Kong Investor Relations Association. Ms. Chi is the daughter
of Mr. Chi Wen Fu, the chairman and executive director of Century
Sunshine.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 57, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15 years of
experience in accounting, finance and administration. He obtained
a master’'s degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants, fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is
currently an independent non-executive director of Tang Palace
(China) Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1181), Landrick Holding
Limited (Stock Code: 2132) and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 3789). He was an independent non-executive director
of Dragon King Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) from 15
December 2017 to 9 April 2021.

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 61, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.
K. Yam & Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509).

Mr. KWAN Ngai Kit, aged 42, has been the chief financial officer,
authorised representative and the company secretary of the
Company since 26 October 2016. Mr. Kwan, has over 15 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and corporate management and
was responsible for corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions
matters, financial and accounting management, investors relations,
corporate governance as well as compliance affairs. Prior to
March 2014, he worked as a senior manager in both the assurance
department and the technical department of Ernst & Young during
which he acquired intensive capital market transactions experience.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of A & S
Group (Holdings) Limited (stock Code: 1737) and Vobile Group
Limited (Stock Code:3738), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1089) from 5 July 2017 to 31 December 2020, which was
delisted in December 2020. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Lai Group Holding Company Limited (stock
code:8455) from 24 March 2017 to 6 August 2021, the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 57, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese
Language and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15 years
of relevant experience in corporate affairs management. Prior to
joining the Group, he has worked in a large alloy enterprise for over
25 years. He joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, age 45, is responsible for production, operation,
and research and development of the products. Mr. Zhu has more
than 20 years of experience in magnesium industry, specializing
in the production process and organization management of
magnesium and magnesium alloys. He has long served in
magnesium and magnesium alloys enterprises in China. He joined
the Group in 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group's
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 12 to 27 of this annual report. This discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue to
review and improve the effectiveness of its management practices
from time to time. "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
will be published on or before May 2022. For details, please refer to
the Company’'s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 60 to 63.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year
under review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders is
recommended for the year ended 31 December 2021. The retained
earnings of the Group as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$361,986,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2021:

(i) The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 17.8% and 39.9% respectively of the Group’'s
total revenue.

(ii)  The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 20.1% and 62.4% respectively of the Group's
total purchases (not including purchases of items which are of
capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the Directors,
their associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on page 175 to 176. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 30 to the financial statements, there
were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies Act’) amounted
to HK$480,084,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company's
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its
assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Jing Chao!"
Chi Sile®

Non-executive Director:

Professor Meng Jian®

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon

Kwan Ngai Kit

@ resigned on 1 August 2021
2 appointed on 1 August 2021
@ retired on 30 June 2021

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Chi Sile will hold
office until the forthcoming AGM of the Company and being eligible
for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, an annual confirmation confirming
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Rules, were as follows:

At 31 December 2021, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing

Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company

EAEERREREEEE 2 EERYE
Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be interested
RN
ERITRE
B»E 2SN
B B AR Rk BREHE DA B Bk
Approximate
percentage of
interests in
the issued
share capital
Personal Family Number of Corporate of the
Director interests interests options held interests Total Company
HE
Long position
AR - - 30,000,000 - = 0.46%
Shum Sai Chit
BRI ST 5,000,000 0.08%
Kwong Ping Man
RER - - 5,000,000 - - 0.08%
Cheung Sound Poon
BARRE - 4,000,000 5,000,000 - - 0.14%
Kwan Ngai Kit (KtsE1)
(Note 1)
KA
Short position
i
Nil
108 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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EEHAZEFER®) DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
RAQTRG - HEARMKMESZ  Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company
= (E) (continued)
B 5 Notes:
1. 4,000,000 A& AN 72 B AR A7 TH AR 9% BT 35 8 AR 8 T ) A 5% 1. 4,000,000 shares in the Company are the number of the underlying shares which may be
GEEZRBEERTEHITZABKRMHER - issued to Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, under the options.
REEEE RGO 2w (FR) Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position)
RERGEIARAREEGZZERRYA (HR)
Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed
to be interested (long position)
s EE
BRI
fi% RAz
£33 BRiEER EARE  FhER BREHA g BAl
% of
issued share
capital of
Personal Family ~ Number of associated
Names of Directors Name of associated corporation interests interests  options held Total  corporation
it tieFrEEERERAR (2GR ]) 14,666,308 - 20000000 34,666,305 0.76%
Shum Sai Chit Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(‘Century Sunshine’)
UETES ueslob 36,736,742 - - 36,736,842 0.80%
Chi Sile Century Sunshine
KEA ueslob - - 5000000 5000000 0.11%
Cheung Sound Poon Century Sunshine
Bk el s - - 4000000 4000000 0.09%
Kwan Ngai Kit Century Sunshine (1)

(note 1)

MERHEEIERBR AR
2021 BERE A



EEEHRE(R)
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EFAZET R
REECEE R 2B (FR) (@)

fE

1 4,000,000 A tt 42 55 S AR 15 Ty AT [R) BA SR A4 50 A 2 R 48
BB L T BT ZAEERMEE -

B EXFREEN KB —F+ =]
S—H SEERESIHRALES
GEADFLEEARRAR (R LES
TSR e 01 ) 2 B4 2 4B AR 9 o A £
RS R -

B &l

SRS MBERESFSEEAIFAKH
ZEBER O WRABEZAERBEE
REEINABI R ER - ARABR_FT—+
F+ = AW A RMEBES (T
) AERZEETIBREEALAEH
1’Eﬁfl§ﬁ2$’§l&{£ﬂiﬁﬂx$21§§
SEENAEEEMKEAAL - D
oA E - HER - REGHER - (K
B BPMEBEH - FRIERTTREHNE
7] kAT EI 2 B S B AL B e Rt
104 » ZeTEIZRIBFHRN B F (R =
E_LFt+-AMARER) -

50 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continueq)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position)
(continued)

Notes:

(1) 4,000,000 shares in Century Sunshine are the number of underlying shares which may be
issued to Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, under the options held.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’'s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the
“Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include employees
and directors of the Group and any substantial shareholders, and
the consultants or adviser, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
service providers, agent, customer and business partner of the
Group who have contribution to the Group. The Scheme, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
since its establishing date. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 6 years (expiry on 4 December 2027).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for a total of
348,400,000 Shares were outstanding under the Scheme (the

RE(THBARHE ) M RTTHE - "Options”).
b
S —E=—fF
—E-—fF FR FR FR FR +=A
—HA—H gz Tz 2z KBz Eqr=F TEE
#E B AR A B AR AE B AR B AR R B8 (FHi&E)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price
2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 (note)
BT
HK$
() EE
Employees 163,400,000 - - - - 163,400,000 0.4
140,000,000 - - - - 140,000,000 0.3
(B) S
Directors
wh 5 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
A ERE 3,000,000 - - = (3,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Jing Chao*
e 5,000,000 - - = (5,000,000) - 0.4
Meng Jian®
BRI ST 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
RE A 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
BB 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
216,400,000 - - = (8,000,000) 208,400,000 0.4
140,000,000 - - - - 140,000,000 0.3
356,400,000 - - = (8,000,000) 348,400,000 -
* RZZEZ—FN\A—HEE & resigned on 1 August 2021
G NZE-Z—FXA=TAHRE # retired on 30 June 2021
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 42 to 44 of the
annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company's board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for an indemnity against liability incurred by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company’'s holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2021, the register of substantial shareholders
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain
Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital of
the Company:

FFEER HERT

RRERE gl =] BAZBE D
Number of

ordinary % of issued

Name of Shareholder shares held share capital

Ming Xin Developments Limited (#/2#7%5) (note 7 and 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31

200,000,000 (S) 3.04

New Bright Group Limited (#72#22/%5) (note 2 and 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31

200,000,000 (S) 3.04

AR R EIERER QR (AF 3K 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3 and 5) 200,000,000 (S) 3.04

M E (HfiF 4K 5) 4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31

Chi Wen Fu (note 4 and 5) 200,000,000 (S) 3.04

B 5 Note:

(1) 4,761,117,434 B Ming Xin Developments Limited (1) 4,761,117,434 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited.
BaliA -

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited A New Bright (2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
Group Limited 22 &AMBAR] - Ut + BRESH K Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the shares
EIEHIME © New Bright Group Limited 348 BB in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Ming Xin Developments Limited # & 425 2 2 2R
P2 e o

(3) New Bright Group Limited Attt42f5 % 2 2 AHI B A 3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
Al MUt - MEFRBEKNIME - LB RFER such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming Xin
A Ming Xin Developments Limited EA 25 2 Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

2 ERRD 2 s o

(4) M 3CE S A TE 42 B5 Y2 (Ming Xin Developments (4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at general
Limited Z S EIER AR BREKRE HiEH =2 — meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin Developments
LA ERRE L RBFHFRPEEADS Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which
M X E S A fR A B Ming Xin Developments Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Limited BB #E 5 2 2 ERARMD 2 #E %5 ©
(5) R-ZZE—NE+-A+=8 B EREZERE (5) On 13 December 2019, Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and Ming Xin

[® 27} Ming Xin Developments Limited ({E &% T
A) K Mega Prime Development Limited ({7 84
AN MRBEERS - Bt ZBTARER
% HARE AR AR U % 200,000,000 AR AR 1 2 4 F
KAt -

Developments Limited as grantors and Mega Prime Development Limited as optionee
entered into the Call Option Agreement, pursuant to which the said grantors agreed to
grant to the said optionee the right and option to acquire 200,000,000 Shares.

MERHEEIERBR AR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements,
there was no connected transaction during the year and in prior
period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as at
the latest practical date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

There has been no other change in the auditors of the Company
during the past three years. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will
retire and the Company will propose a resolution at its forthcoming
AGM to reappoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as auditors of
the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

31 March 2022



HLB

>
BENMZEEZRARQTRR
(HmEAERH)
(RESHEZMA LA FRLE])

T#HRE

&TF?E%V@J%BA%ﬁMKEIT RBR
ARITERARI D RAKMBA T(ﬂmrﬁ
EEJ)%&)E FILEEHE -
F+ZA=T—HZE Aﬁ?ﬁ‘“ﬂﬁvﬁ%éﬁi@
ERHLEFEZHeEakEMEEKES
% ZTA$EEZ;£@%&Z?A£%£ML§§E

J’/\& AE#%#&%ZM—J’HI TEE% = D+
BERME -
BMY BEEZHEEVBRRTIERE

R AREPREPTHRER 2 EE—
AR EIR 2 EE M - BRI ARBESVER
SRBEEERRBURZELR S MR
RBRZEBRE RREREEE - TR
R EREBATE  ZEMBHRRER
BARBRBGIZRERELSHA -

Bl fF &t F 4 A R A

HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

38 3L #% B4Rl 4R 5
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower &5

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street EITH115R

Central B E S

Hong Kong EETITRESE
To the Shareholders of

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(In Provisional Liquidation)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the "Group”) set out on pages 60 to 174, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going concern
basis

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on
3 July 2020, the Company announced that, inter-alia, (i) Century
Sunshine Group Holding Limited ("CS”), the controlling shareholder
of the Company, defaulted on the redemption of the SGD101.75
million in principal amount of subordinated notes (the "CS Payment
Default”); (i) the Company had received on 30 June 2020 a demand
from one of the bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings of
the Company or its subsidiaries of approximately HK$22.87 million
plus interest accrued and believed it was likely to receive further
calls from its creditors; (iii) the CS Payment Default constituted
an event of default in respect of certain borrowings of the Group,
which became immediately payable on demand; (iv) a winding up
petition has been submitted on 3 July 2020 to the Supreme Court of
Bermuda together with the application for the appointment of the
joint provisional liquidators ("JPLs") on a “light touch” basis for debt
restructuring purpose. The JPLs were appointed pursuant to an
order granted by the Supreme Court of Bermuda on 16 July 2020
and granted by the High Court in Hong Kong on 25 August 2020.

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a winding up petition
(the “Petition”) from a creditor which was filed for its failure to repay
an outstanding principal of the unsubordinated and unsecured
notes together with the unpaid interest and default interest
in an aggregate amount of U5$20,707,777.78 (approximately
HK$161,111,000). The hearing of the Petition has been adjourned to
be heard together with sanction hearing for the creditors’ scheme
and presently fixed to be heard on 27 May 2022.

As of the date of this report, a scheme of arrangement proposed
by the Company (the “Creditors’ Scheme”) was approved by the
requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors on 1 March
2022.
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Further, as explained in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$331,883,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, and, as
of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$483,515,000, its current borrowings
amounted to HK$876,043,000 as at 31 December 2021, while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to only HK$25,078,000. In
addition, the Group could not fulfil certain covenants or defaulted
in repayment in relation to certain borrowings of the Group
amounting to HK$839,815,000 as at 31 December 2021, which have
become immediately repayable on demand of the lenders. Further,
included in the borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
were borrowings of approximately HK$233,671,000 which the
lenders have commenced litigations against the Group to repay the
outstanding balances.

The conditions described above indicate the existence of material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. The directors have been
undertaking certain measures to improve the Group's liquidity and
financial position, as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the eventual successful outcome of the events and conditions,
which are inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still subject
to multiple uncertainties, including whether (i) the Company being
able to obtain sanctions of the Creditors’ Scheme from the relevant
court and successfully implement the Creditors’ Scheme and (ii)
the Group being able to implement further cost control measures
on capital investments, production and administrative operations to
reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management's use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because whether the Group could
meet its liabilities as they fall due which depends upon the eventual
successful outcomes of the management’'s proposed plan, which
are inherently uncertain. Any adjustments found to be required
may have consequential significant effects on the consolidated net
assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and the consolidated
loss and other comprehensive income or loss and cash flows of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, and the related
elements and disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the "HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. However, because of the matter described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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RERERHEMEEKAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_ZT-—F+-A=+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

Bt &
Notes
WA Revenue b
HEK A Cost of sales
EH Gross profit
HabUgziskE51E - FEE Other gains or losses, net 6
HE kD Selling and distribution expenses
TBE Administrative expenses
EIRBER - ke k Net allowance for expected credit
H e W sk I8 78 2R losses on trade receivables,
EEBEREFE deposits and other receivables
YE - BB RERE Impairment loss recognised
RBIEEE on property, plant and equipment 18
L AR ERER Impairment loss recognised on
BEEE right-of-use assets 18
mEEERE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 18
W% E R Finance costs 8
BLATE 1R LOSS BEFORE TAX 7
FIEHi = it Income tax expense 11
FEEE Loss for the year
HpZEWA OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BEHHEN 7 EE Other comprehensive income
8 7 BB M 2 ETHCA to be reclassified to profit or loss

BEBINEH ZERLER

in subsequent periods.

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

FEEMBEEBA
RS

Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of income tax

HK$'000

416,060
(347,285)

68,775

14,712

(4,381)
(99.610)

(53,243)

(175,657)

(5,182)

(2,738)
(69,401)

(326,725)
(5,158)

(331,883)

66,671

66,671

—g-%f
2020
T8
HK$'000

744,836
(614,665)

130,171
8,155
(8,506)

(98,952)

(1,659)

131,071

131,071

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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GEEERHMEEAWVARE)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

FER2ME(XH) WALLE

HK$'000

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSES)/
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (265,212)

THALRIEFEES :

Loss for the year
attributable to:

—g-%f
2020
T8
HK$'000

57,060

(74,011)

57,060

(1.121lcents)

iN/NETEF PN Owners of the Company (331,883)
THATEEFEAZE Total comprehensive (expenses)/

(ZH) A sEEE income for the year attributable to:

KABIER A Owners of the Company (265,212)
BRESE : Loss per share:

—EARREE — basic and diluted (5.041Lcents)
BE B 2 Bt 5 3 AN AR S B S R 3R 2 4B K BT
e financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
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RS B KR &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HE-_ZT-—F+-A=+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

B &
Notes

FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
W -~ BEREE Property, plant and equipment 14
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15
mEE Intangible assets 16
RiERE Mining rights 17
IEREBEERT Total non-current assets
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
58 Inventories 19
EUE SR R E R Trade and bills receivables 20
FERRIE - EBek Prepayments, deposits and

H b I R IE other receivables 21
BEEFRITER Pledged bank deposits 22
ReKAESEEER Cash and cash equivalents 22
MENEERLT Total current assets
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
JERTE B AR Trade payables 23
HERRIE R ERTER Other payables and accruals 24
BH8E Contract liabilities 24
EE Borrowings 25
FERT B X Tax payable
I — B RFIE Amount due to a shareholder 26
mEaEESE Total current liabilities
REEEFE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
EEHERREBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

HK$'000

1,626,848
47,994
25,406
50,222

1,750,470

215,410
149,504

209,667
10,490
25,078

610,149

13,364
134,351
26,321
876,043
3,627
39,958

1,093,664

(483,515)

1,266,955

—g-%f
2020
T8
HK$'000

1,650,042
52,981
32,141
48,760

1,783,924

287,135
172,292

267,192
10,185
36,104

772,908

36,216
72,603
13,993
796,938

33,959
953,709
(180,801)

1,603,123

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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GEMBRRERE)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) L
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SE 5
2020
B & FHET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FRBEME NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
EFEYA Deferred revenue 27 75,018 72,834
B Borrowings 25 — 75,381
EEFRIBBAE Deferred tax liabilities 29 2,995 2,986
ERB A BT Total non-current liabilities 78,013 151,201
BEERE NET ASSETS 1,188,942 1,451,922
= EQUITY
AAREE AEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
BEITRA Issued capital 30 658,439 658,439
f# Reserves 32 530,503 793,483
RSB TOTAL EQUITY 1,188,942 1,451,922
MRENEFI1TLEZHEEMBHRERZ The consolidated financial statements on pages 40 to 174 were
T —HF-A=-+—BHEKEFEEHNE approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 31
RETED - W TIHEEREEE - March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:
M EE SHT 4 22 +
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
EF EE
Director Director
12 Bt 5E ARG B F 3R 3R 2 48 Ak BT The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
7 e financial statements.
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mAEEBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-ZT - —F+=-A=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2021

EARE TER
ki 1 EERE BRE EERE AR EXRE
& RER (iR (i) e il (WaEGi) (W)  Hfdk e RERR
Capital
Share  redemption  Convertible Share Statutory Merger Exchange
Issued premium reserve  bonds equity option reserve reserve Other fluctuation Retained
capital account (note (ii)) reserve reserve (note (iii)) (note (iv) reserve reserve earnings Total
TiEn TET TiEn TiEn TER TET TiEn TiEn TET TET TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=Z-F%-f-A As at 1 January 2020 657,439 1,560,077 419 86,548 21,7719 113435 (1,500,592) (22,233) (218,673) 683,688 1,387,887
FEER Loss for the year = - - - - - - - - (74011) (74,011)
FEEMRERA Other comprehensive
NRFSEH income for the year,
net of income tax:
BEBNERAELZ Exchange differences
EXER arising from translations
of foreign operations = = = = = = = = 131,01 = 131,01
FRERE(ZM)HA Total comprehensive
&% (expense/income for
the year = = = = = = = = 131,01 (76,011) 57,060
rieimE Exercise of share options 1,000 2587 — = (557) — — — — - 3000
BARMEERE Share option lapsed - - - - (2477) - - - = 2477 =
REEERDAF RS Eaquity settled share
based transactions = = = = 3978 = = = = = 3975
EEDRE Transfer to reserve - - - - - 2414 - - - (2.414) -
BRETARESER Transfer to equity of
convertible bonds - = - (86,548 = = = = - 86,548 =
R-Z-%F As at 31 December 2020
+ZA=+-8k and 1 January 2021
—3--%-f-A 658,439 1,562,634 419 = 28,720 115,849 (1,500,592) (22,233) (87,602) 696,288 1,451,922
FEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - = = (331,883) (331,883)
FEERRERA Other comprehensive
NRFES income for the year,
net of income tax:
BEBNERMELZ Exchange differences
EXER arising from translations
of foreign operations = = = = = = = = 66,671 = 66,671
FRERE (M)A Total comprehensive
&% (expense/income for
the year - - - - - - - - 66,671 (331,883) (265212)
BANERIE Share option lapsed - - - - (628) - - - - 628 -
RELERGAZZRS  Eouity settled share
based transactions = = = = 2232 = = = = = 2232
ERTREE Transfer to reserve - - - - - 3047 - - - (3047 -
WZE-—%+-A=1—H Asat31 December 2021 658,439 1,562,634 419 = 30,324 118,896 (1,500,592) (22233 (20931) 361986 1,188,942

6ll N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MRE -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

HEFRBERLSEAMBERRNRTOEE FE
530,503,000/ (ZT =T : 793,483,000/
jT) o

EARERREEARANEBR R HRORBEARE
REBFEENARBRMHEE °

EERBIREMBARZFEARLNE ( [H
B ) EEMBBRERMIEFNI0NRRETREE
ERDRENES -

RIBER B2 B AR 2 SRR R AE- 2
BURRISOER - R EMEARAR L 10% 2 RS
BgEd GRPEBERREMBRRCERE) F
REERE  RIEZRBEBREENBARZIME
A50% ° ZEEERARYHNBARBEFEZE
B BAMBABZEEZEBIIEMME LR 2K
7 o

RETHERLZE2LEEEERARNAMBRES
BERMHE TR AEEFERRTLIAAER
RESOREEDREES - ZFESTHAREE
R/ & LR 2 EE - TMERRESK ©

EHEENEAHZREESN 2 BREASHEE
RESE -

Note:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

HAERBHR(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$530,503,000 (2020:
HK$793,483,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the Company
which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based on
10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") statutory financial
statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC
and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside
10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory financial statements
as statutory reserve, except where the reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make good the
subsidiaries’ previous years' losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or
to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety of the
PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds mainly
for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates. These funds can be used for
maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available for
distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in relation to
the combination with entity under common control.

MERHEEIERBR AR
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mAERERE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_ZT-—F+-A=+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2021
—EEF
2020
Bt & FHET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
REXBHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
AT ERE Loss before tax (326,725) (68,648)
PR Adjustments for:
W% EA Finance costs 8 69,401 97857
IREEE 2 BiREE A Equity-settled share
option expenses 31 2,232 3,975
RITH B YA Bank interest income b (551) (418)
HEME - BEK Gain on disposal of items of
JEBEE 2 W property, plant and equipment 6 (5,052) (497)
WEHYIZE - BB MR Written-off of property,
plant and equipment 7 774 -
IE - BERRE Impairment loss recognised on
R BEEE property, plant and equipment 18 175,657 =
EAREEERR Impairment loss recognised on
RIEEE right-of-use assets 18 5,182 -
MEFEERRZMERE  Impairment loss recognised
on intangible assets 18 2,738 -
M BEERRBIINE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 14 103,305 97,963
FREEEZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 1,377 1,273
B EE 2 EH Amortisation of intangible assets 16 4,900 4,587
PRUERE 2 i Amortisation of mining rights 17 - 188
Ze REMERIE L (Reversal of allowance)/
FEH{EEEE allowance for expected
(BB ) /Bt credit loss on deposits and
other receivables 21 (65) 10
ﬁgqﬁff%ﬁﬁ%\ﬁﬁﬁ Allowance for expected
EEEERE credit loss on trade receivables 20 53,308 1,649
LiBECEFHE Operating cash flows before
KERSME changes in working capital 86,481 137,939
FERAL,/(1Em) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 38,254 (83,463)
JEWE PR K Increase in trade and
FEURARIE hN bill receivables (25,699) (11,836)
FERFIE - e REM Decrease in prepayments,
J&E W SR IR R deposits and other receivables 11,494 47,775
BB SERFOR Decrease in trade payables (23,643) (14,223)
Hth 5108 - F?ﬂ'%ﬁﬁ X Increase/(decrease) in other payables,
aHaELM b accruals and contract liabilities 21,468 (14,116)

66 N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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GERERERE)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
BZE2—ZF-—%+=-F=+—HLL5%JE For the year ended 31 December 2021

HK$'000

108,355
(1,656)

106,699

551

6,931

(113,305)

(105,823)

(2,068)
(793)

(12,201)

(15,062)

(14,186)
36,104

3,160

25,078

—g-%f

2020
TR
HK$'000

62,076
(32,288)

29,788

418
7,424

1,007

(102,213)

(93,364)

(9.864)
(44,677)

(96,469)

3,000

(148,010)

(211,586)
254,813

(7,123)

36,104

36,104

Mt et
Notes
REEBECRE Cash generated from operations
B ATEHIE Income taxes paid
KEEB 2R RN FRE Net cash flows generated
from operating activities
REXBZRERE CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
FEWA Interest received
RIRBEEIFRITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
HEWE - HERZEN Proceeds from disposal of
FriSsI8 property, plant and equipment
BAMZE  BENREBEE Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment
WEEBR R RHFE Net cash flows used
in investing activities
MEXBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ERFHE Interest paid
EEBE Repayment of borrowings
EV AN Repayment of amount due to a
shareholder
RITEEIREREITEM®AR  Issue of ordinary shares upon
exercise of share options
MEXEB2BReRLIFE Net cash flows used
in financing activities
RERRESEEERBZ NET DECREASE IN CASH
Y FE AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
FYzBHe kRS EEERE Cash and cash equivalents
. at beginning of year
HNESTE R B AR - F R Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes, net
FRZESRELEEEE  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR
ReRBESEEBEEASRDIN ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re RIRITEER Cash and bank balances 22
BE B 2 Bt 5 A ANER G B 75 ¥R 3R 2 48 K BT
7 e financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

BEMZEEZEERAR

2021 BERE <« 67




B 1% 3R 3R B 5E
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RARFEER  REB 2 XHH RH
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BRESCER  XRRAIZCEERE
BRARIARRBE XS MK
AVARR/N _TMing Xin Developments
Limited » T & &R R 2 7 Bl AR
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Sino Limited °
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F+= A=+—HI-%JZ For the year ended 31 December 2021

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture
and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Developments Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i) Century Sunshine
Group Holding Limited ("CS"), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, defaulted in the redemption of its SGD101.75
million in principal amount of subordinated notes (the “CS
Payment Default”); (ii) the Company had received on 30
June 2020 a demand from one of the bank creditors for the
repayment of borrowings of the Company or its subsidiaries
of approximately HK$22.87 million plus interest accrued and
believed it was likely to receive further calls from its creditors;
(iii) the CS Payment Default constituted an event of default
in respect of certain borrowings of the Group, which became
immediately payable on demand; (iv) a winding-up petition has
been filed on 3 July 2020 to the Supreme Court of Bermuda
on behalf of the Company together with an application for
the appointment of joint provisional liquidators ("JPLs") on a
“light touch” basis that the board of directors of the Company
(the "Board”) will retain management of the Company while
the JPLs will work alongside the Company’'s management
to, amongst other things, monitor, supervise and oversee
the implementation of a group-wide holistic and coordinated
restructuring of its debts and liabilities (the "Proposed
Restructuring Plan”) including to maintain the listing of the
Company on the Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional liquidators
(continued)

On 16 July 2020, an order was granted by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai
David and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions
Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young, and Ms. Tammy
Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of the Company with
the power to act jointly and severally. On 7 August 2020, the
Bermuda Court accepted the resignation of Mr. Yen Ching Wai
David. The JPLs appointment order remains in force in respect
of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee
Anita as JPLs.

On 25 August 2020, the High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region has granted the recognition order in
respect of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong
Kong.

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition (the
“Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC acting on behalf of
and for the account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the "Petitioner”)
on 22 February 2021 against the Company in the High Court
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “Court”)
for an order that the Company be wound up by the Court. The
Petition was filed against the Company for its failure to repay
the Petitioner an outstanding principal of the Notes (as defined
below) together with the unpaid interest and default interest
in an aggregate amount of US$20,707,777.78, which was
pursuant to a subscription agreement of 7% unsubordinated
and unsecured notes due 2020 in a principal amount of
US$20,000,000 (the "Notes”) entered into between the
Petitioner as subscriber and the Company as the issuer dated
7 August 2017. The hearing of the Petition has been adjourned
to be heard together with sanction hearing for the creditors’
scheme and presently fixed for 27 May 2022.

The Company proposed a scheme of arrangement to the
related scheme creditors (“the Creditors’ Scheme”) on 18
January 2022 and the Creditors’ Scheme was approved by
the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors on 1
March 2022. Details of the Creditors’ Scheme are disclosed in
Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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PEIREBRER &)
ARTZEBHBATZHBEDT -

—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:
AL/
R BRALER/ BE
TEmE EMBRAEE NG ForE
Place of Nominal value hREZEA kAl
incorporation/ of issued Percentage of Proportion
£ registration ordinary share/ equity attributable ofvoting FE¥K
Name and business registered capital to the Company power held  Principal activities
EE 5f;
Direct Indirect
HERAEHImERAR) ik AR%171,800,0007 - 100 100% HEREECBH
(IFhBwA)) REER
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and
Products Company Limited trading of
("Xinjiang Tengxiang’) magnesium related
products
BT AR e BERER il AR 280,332,000 - 100 100% BHERHESEH
BRAT HEEm
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium The PRC RMB280,332,000 Manufacturing and
Resources Company Limited trading of
magnesium related
products
PERENRERER AT Y 1031087 - 100 100% RERFR
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong HK$10,310 Investment holdings

Technology Holdings Limited

EREINESARYARE ZANEF
EREBEAZESEXNAEEE
EFECERHMN 2 ARANEBA
A BEERR - REHMHEB QR
ZRABRERERBRILE

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16,

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021
which clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments?®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)*
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies®
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-20202
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HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
“ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“CO").
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)

Going concern

During year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
loss of approximately HK$331,883,000 (2020: HK$74,011,000),
and, as of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$483,515,000 (2020:
HK$180,801,000). Further, as at 31 December 2021, the

HE-_Z-—%F+=-A=+—HLI%FJE For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Group's current and non-current borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$876,043,000 (2020: HK$796,938,000)
and HK$Nil (2020: HK$75,381,000) while its cash and cash
equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$25,078,000
(2020: HK$36,104,000). As stated in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, on 3 July 2020, the Company announced
that CS had defaulted in repayment of its bonds of principal
amount of SGD101.75 million plus interests accrued when they
fell due on their maturity date on 3 July 2021 and this also
constituted an event of default in respect of certain borrowings
of the Group. The announcement also stated that the Company
had received demand from one of its bank creditors for
repayment of the borrowings of the Group of approximately
HK$22.87 million. As at 31 December 2021 the Group could
not fulfil certain covenants or defaulted in repayment in
relation to certain borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$839,815,000 (2020: HK$760,580,000), which have become
repayable on demand and are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Included
in the borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
were borrowings of approximately HK$233,671,000 (2020:
HK$154,686,000) which the lender have commenced litigations
against the Group to repay the outstanding balances.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The conditions described above indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group
may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business.

The management of the Company has been in active
negotiations with the JPLs and the creditors on debt
restructuring by way of scheme of arrangement involving,
among others, equity-for-debt swap and extension of
repayment period. The scheme meeting was held on 1 March
2022, the creditors’ scheme was approved by the requisite
statutory majorities of the scheme creditors. The Company
will submit the result of the scheme meeting to the Hong Kong
Court and will apply to the Hong Kong Court for the sanctioning
of the Creditors’ Scheme. The Sanction Hearing is scheduled
to be heard on 27 May 2022.

In addition, the Company is seeking potential investment in
the Company from third party investor(s) to facilitate raising
of cash for the Company. The Company has also implemented
cost control measures on capital investments, production and
administrative operations to reduce overall operating costs of
the Group.

Assuming the successful implementation of the creditor’s
scheme and the other measures described above, the Board
is of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligation as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future.

MEREEEZERER AR
2021 BERE 73



o %5 R <R B RE (48)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE—Z—

76

FEFTBERBE )
RS ()

SIERE (E)
ARREERE BREELERE
RESRETBRRTIEE IR - Z
ZREMBERMRNDIZFELEREE
wmE EAMEERTLAEHR
BHERRESTHEERER &
B FEBTETE  BREARGEBE
ERINESERIENREHBERE A

atEl e

BEMENRSEAMBERER B
AL ER LA B FE it
fE o EAEEAGTEI R EMEEE
MZRBRERBELGEREE -
bt BERETIEGAVBERRZ
A FEHAKEZHERKEREN
B EEE ZEANTHBREE - i A
SEEEFELE  AARGEESM
BREELAZUBAEEE ER
EEMORZE AT B 558 - AQ AR
E—SEEZABEFELEE XK
FRBEENIFRBDAEDBEH
DRERPEERRBDEE - WF
;@%Z%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ*&@&%%é%ﬁ%i&
A o

RS2 R AN B2

RAEVBBRECRELKANE LR
B BELRABERERBNEE
SHRENAALEERE °

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on going concern basis. These consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends upon the eventual successful
outcomes of the events and conditions described above, which
are inherently uncertain, including whether the Company is
able to successfully obtain the sanctions of the courts and
implement the Creditors’ Scheme.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements, the required sanctions of the Scheme
have not been obtained from the courts yet. The eventual
outcome of the implementation of the Creditors’ Scheme and
other measures described above cannot be determined with
reasonable certainty. Accordingly, the material uncertainty
that cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern remains in existence as at the date of
approval for issuance of the consolidated financial statements.
Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statement to write down the carrying values of the
Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

Historical cost basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payments,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’'s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e |evel 1T inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

®  has power over the investee;

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

®  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's profit
or loss to the extent of dividends received and receivables. The
Company's investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
any impairment.
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—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

® liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

® assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Business combinations (continued)

® |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the "“measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and measured
under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

® the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

MEREEEZERER AR
2021 BERE 83



o %5 R <R B RE (48)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE—Z—

84

FESHERBME2)
RKEEFEHZWAE)

EHRERASERD B EP KR
REEEHRRHKRE) - MAR
EFPEERMmAMBZEE -

HENEMZANEERANERE
FIVELARREREEZT -

KENMTRHEERFREH  SED
Ro R 50 4 ) 2 Mk 2 T 7 m ) 22 I 4
EERMRXNTFTEFERPODEME
I R B E R A M B\ Re e
EEFPEMERNRBITE EREE
REHTAER - EEMSEXE
WEE  EmRERERNEAR
EEBEREP  REFPRRHEES
WEMER  HEBEMGERS KA
FAEEBEEBERERAMEZMN
BREDDEKE - KTAIETK °

ZEHENKRRRBA N ANE
(AR - @R EIBER) T A

BURRERERRZINREPEME
on By BE R > IIE AR —ZIRA%A - 3R
Z B BEARRARA - BUKRERA
BRI

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’'s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium
products is recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the products are
delivered to the customer and the customer has accepted the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that become receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other gains or losses, net”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress), are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Property, Plant and Equipment and depreciation (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the lease
terms or 3%

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6% to 25%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%

Motor vehicles 15% to 25%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of machinery and equipment that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

® any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

® an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

® variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

®* the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

® payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

® the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

® the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for
a lease modification as a separate lease if:

® the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

® the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using
the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform if,
and only if, both of these conditions are met:

* the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

® the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

® any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event
occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Intangible Assets (continued)
Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and amortised
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of
9 to 16 years, from the date when the patent is available for
use.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and evaluation
assets, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. The mining rights are amortised on
the production quantities over the total estimated mineral
reserve. Mining rights are written off to the profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign Currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value, are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (i.e.
the translation reserve) (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) for
its employees (including certain directors), the assets of
which are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the ORSO Scheme. When an
employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to his/her interest in
the Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of forfeited contributions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Retirement Benefit Costs (continuea)

Pension Schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. In the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

® the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

® the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

® it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

® oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

® it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument. In addition, the Group may
irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required
to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss.
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

® an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

® significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets ((continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

® an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

®* Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception for trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
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Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities, borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
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and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related Parties Transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1)

or

(2)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

The party is an entity where any of the following condition
applies:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

MEREEEZERER AR
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related Parties Transactions (continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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h.

F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-
use Assets and Intangible Assets

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful live have suffered any impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable, in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 3.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs represent the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its value-
in-use. The calculations of fair value less costs to sell
or value-in-use require the use of estimates. As at 31
December 2021, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
subject to impairment assessment were approximately
HK$1,626,848,000 (2020: HK$1,650,042,000),
HK47,994,000 (2020: HK$52,981,000) and HK$25,406,000
(2020:HK$32,141,000) respectively after taking into
account the impairment losses of approximately
HK$175,657,000 (2020: HK$Nil), HK$5,182,000 (2020:
HK$Nil) and HK$2,738,000 (2020: HK$Nil) in respect of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets that have been recognised respectively.

Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
disclosed in notes 18.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

(b)  Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group's management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation
charges for its right-of-use assets, property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of similar nature and functions and the
mineral reserve determined by independent technical
adviser. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to market conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group did not change the estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and mining rights.

(c) Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
may be uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.
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h.

—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

(d)

Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i. e., by geography,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in notes 20 and 40 to the
financial statements.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating decision
makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. The Group is principally engaged in
one single segment, which is manufacturing and selling
magnesium related products during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020. A single management team reports
to the chief operating decision makers who comprehensively
manages such entire business segment. Accordingly, the
Group does not have separately reportable segments.

Geographical information

(@)  Revenue from external customers

GEICETY
U

z=%r
2020
T8

HK$'000 HK$'000

Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 416,060
Europe —

739,775
5,061

416,060 744,836

FRRABERIEEFRAELZ
5l o

b)) FERBEE

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers.

(b)  Non-current assets

FEI(FBRIN)

—BF

2020

FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

Mainland China (other than Hong Kong) 1,750,470 1,783,924

EIERBEEEMIREEM
EHE5) -

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets.
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5. ERoESZER@
FEFFER

RAFERE-BPZHEEARE

B 10% s A L2 AT -

5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Group's revenue during the year is as bellows:

Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the

=l —T—TF

2021 2020

TExT FExT

HK$'000 HK$'000

2P A Customer A RER N/A 98,358
ZFB Customer B A NER N/AT

1. HERKASAEEERANERTER
10% °

Br EXFIHEEEESN  BIEEMREE
AEBEFALKMATRBI0%IIA L ©

6. WA - Hithliz=sEHE - 3 6.
#

N ¢ 27 -k
T

FEOM

1 The correspending revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group's total revenue for the year.

REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

An analysis of revenue and other gains or losses, net is as
follows:

—EIEF
2020
FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RE-RFREHER Revenue from contract with
REEFEHZEA customer recognised at a point in time
HEESBHEBER Sale of magnesium related products 416,060 744,836
Hih W m R E B FEE Other gains or losses, net
|ITHEUA Bank interest income 551 418
SHERER Sales of scrap materials 2,052 4,053
HEWE  BENRXME 2ME  Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 5,052 497
HEWA Rental income 7,578 3,793
HAtb Others (521) (606)
14,712 8,155

FIEWAGRERER—FHIAT -
NE B IR A ERIE 15 A E R
EHMA  UERBEOEERE

TTRHNRZ HER

allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
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HAnEsE LOSS BEFORE TAX
AEBZRAIBESINR(GTA) The Group’'s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/
TH&IA - (crediting):
—E-EF
2020
TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEFEKA* Cost of inventories sold* 306,086 519,343
M BERREBITE" Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment*® 103,305 97,963
M - BB KRR Written-off of property, plant
and equipment* 774 —
AR E 2 IBIREE A Equity-settled share option expenses 2,232 3,975
FREEERE" Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,377 1,273
HEME BMEMEZMEZIWZ  Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (5,052) (497)
M - BB RREER Impairment loss recognised on property,
BEEE plant and equipment 175,657 —
FREEERRORERIER Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 5,182 —
B EERRZREBE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 2,738 =
EI B Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,900 4,587
% ERRD BN & * Auditors’ remuneration*
—E TR ~ Audit Service 1,000 1,000
— IEBFT IR - Non-audit Service — =
EERAFAZ(BIBEESHM) Employee benefit expense
(including directors’ remuneration)
I8 HaehEYWER Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 43,915 54,364
RRETEIHRR Pension scheme contributions 610 238
44,525 54,602
PE R =% - JHER~ Foreign exchange differences, net* 910 1,837
Ze RHEAMERRIAE 2 (Reversal of allowance)/allowance
TEHEEEE for expected credit loss on
(BB mE) B deposits and other receivables (65) 10
e E 5 BR T8 B Allowance for expected credit loss
BEEBREE on trade receivables 53,308 1,649
# HAGABXREMEEBRAEZHERK # Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

EN

. FAAGRAERAREMEERARZIITHX
H

comprehensive income

Included in "Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

MERHEEIERBR AR
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8. HER 8.  FINANCE COSTS

HK$'000
HARAFANEHEEZIEITR  Interest on bank and other borrowings
H A EFF S wholly repayable within five years
AR ESF B Interest on convertible bonds
9. EEME 9.  DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

(a) EEH N (a) Directors’ Emoluments
B2 -_—F+-_A=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
AIFFESEEZ2FHMET 0 December 2021 are set below:
T

EBEH

Bihe

e e BRE FTEMHX

Pension

Share scheme
Fees Salaries options contribution Total
TET THET THET THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HITESE Executive directors
YRR Shum Sai Chit

S ERER () Chi Jing Chao"

St H 4 @ Chi Sile®

FHITES Non-executive director
mEe Meng Jian®

BIEHITEE Independent non-

executive directors

B Kwong Ping Man
RER Cheung Sound Poon
AR L Kwan Ngai Kit
m R-E-_—FN\A—B&fF Gy resigned on 1 August 2021
@ R-ZE-_—FNA—BEZE 2 appointed on 1 August 2021
@ R-ZE-_—FXA=1THET & retired on 30 June 2021

_,"'. Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

r 122 > gy p g
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(a)

EEFME)

HE-_Z2-_F+_-_R=+—
AEFESES2HMS TN

B ISR R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
December 2020 are set below:

T

e IR &t
Fees Share options Total
THT THET THxT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HITES Executive directors
ot Shum Sai Chit - 539 539
AR Chi Jing Chao = 54 54
FHITES Non-executive directors
rayied Meng Jian 100 90 190
EBERATHL! Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP* = 45 45
BYKHITES Independent
non-executive directors
BEBIR X Kwong Ping Man 30 90 120
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon 30 90 120
RAR Kwan Ngai Kit 30 90 120
190 998 1,188
# R-ZT_TFARA=ZTHRE # retired on 30 June 2020

BE_ZT-_—FR-_ZT_FTF
+—A=+—BLLEE x&
EfERnAERTMNESS M
RS - UFEEMARE
Bk ARNEE - K 1EABER
fHE -

RAFEEAR > WEERF VT
MREXRBERETAME 2
R (ZT_FF ) -

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2020: Nil).

MERHEEIERBR AR
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10.

1.

m=maM AL 10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
AEEBEFRFHERNAREERR The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
EMB(ZE_TF: —R)EE year included two (2020: one) directors, details of whose
HEHMerBE N EXXHIaE9 o ®gk remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
—H(ZEZFTF mWR)EFMES remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020: four)
EBE(WIEARBEFTHEEZITHA highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
B)NFARAHFMFBRT executive of the Company are as follows:
—E-EF
2020
FTHET
HK$'000
e EMNEYA T Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,795
BREER Share option expenses 1,526
RRETEIHE R Pension scheme contributions 34
3,355
FMNFUTHEN S M &= E The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
B(WIARAES) ABAT : directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

ol —E-THF
2021 2020

=% 1,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 3
1,000,001 7% 2,000,00087C HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
4
FRiS B 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
RizeiEakEMmE2EKARAN The amount of income tax expense charged/(credited)
B (Rt A )BIFTS R R S BhaB g - to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:
—EBEF
2020
FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BIHARS 1A - Current tax:
— SR - PRC Enterprises Income Tax 11,438
EIERSIA (BIEE 29) Deferred taxation (Note 29) (6,075)
5,363

12‘ N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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HEZZT——

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before
tax at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and

GRS TN

ABEENEERER)EBEBRHE 2 a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the statutory tax
HERWT ¢ rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:
—E—F —EF
2021 2020
FTET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
MAIEE Loss before tax (326,725) (68,648)
HEEMEFTE 2FIE  Tax at the statutory tax rates (76,994) (14,004) 20.4
BAEMNT 2 WA Income not subject to tax (161) (4,961) 7.2
AR 2 T Expenses not deductible for tax 79,518 24,208 (35.3)
REERZBIAESE Tax losses not recognised 2,795 123 (0.2)
AP A HIR 2 FIEEE Tax losses utilised from
previous periods (3) -
BAEBEBRMEGE  Taxcharge at the
ZTIBS Group's effective rate 5,363 (7.9)
WEREERERERA
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HE-_Z-—%F+=-A=+—HLI%FJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. FrS#HEAXZ 2
(a) BEBAEH

RZE—NF=Z=A=-_+—H"
BERALEEBBE_T—tF
MIEIENERUBE])(B7%)
([ZER])  ZERS|AFE
MRS - ZERR=ZZF—N
FZA-+NBEERERE
WHREBAFE - REFESHH
BH EEREEERBNBE
2B & BT A E 8 1%8.25% K
o MBE2EEBTHNAE
TR ZBIR16.5% T - TRFE
FEHMATNEREERH
WU B IR 16.5% I E E B R E
i o

REBEERAET MM AR H F
BHRBMERTBRAMIS NS
MG BHREAMEBTIE
Ko BAEFMGHAMEFEER
BT R &R A 2 16.5%
HE - ARERATEELR
RREF - MBE_T=_—F
+-_A=+—HIEFEEBEAEX
NEMPRB(ZE_ZF : &) -

Bl S5

PR EMER RN P BE
ETE - —EFERNTE-EHF
+-—A=+t—BILFEZFE
JERBUREF Z 25% 5T & ©

(b)

12. BB
EXeTERENBE_TS-_—FK
—ECEF+ZA=T+T—HLEFE
IRHEMIAR S o
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11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits tax above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profit tax
rates require as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statement. Hong Kong Profits tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for both years. No tax
is payable for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
Nil) since there was no assessable profit generated in
Hong Kong.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 256% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
T —F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2021

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Basic

The calculation of the basic loss per share are based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$331,883,000 (2020: HK$74,011,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
6,584,390,000 (2020: 6,583,598,000) during the year.

Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has one categories of dilutive
potential ordinary shares: share options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired
at fair value (determined as the average market price
of the Company's shares during the period) based on
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to outstanding share options. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company's share options
because the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

For the convertible bonds, the effect on loss per shares
were anti-dilutive for the year ended 31 December 2020.
They were not included in the calculation of diluted loss
per share during the year.

MEREEEZERER AR
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4. Y% - MERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
&RE -
HEL HER
kEF HEIE B 7 Fob ol
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings in progress equipment machinery vehicles Total
FHExT FHExT FHExT FHExT FHExT FHExT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2% Cost:
RZZE-TF—A—H As at 1 January 2020 366,641 411,968 6,134 979,874 5178 1,769,795
nE Additions = 113,982 317 6,086 326 120,711
i Transfer 110,073 (110,073) = = = =
HE Disposal (544) - (135) (5) (2,024) (2,708)
BB Exchange realignment 30,230 27,664 418 65,629 255 124,196
%7273 ~“A=+—H Asat31 December 2020 and
MZFZ i A—A 1 January 2021 506,400 443,541 6,734 1,051,584 3,735 2,011,994
B Addition = 205,854 36 1,804 = 207,694
EiE Transfer 579,111 (639,617) - 60,506 = =
HE Disposal - - - (6,864) = (6,864)
HaH Written-off (1,293) - - - - (1,293)
EHE Exchange realignment 22,374 7,895 202 32,212 112 62,795
RZZ=Z—F+=A=+—H Asat31 December 2021 1,106,592 17,673 6,972 1,139,242 3,847 2,274,326
R HERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
RZZE-TF—A—H As at 1 January 2020 (47,441) - (4,544) (189,800) (3,021) (244,806)
NEEFRTE Depreciation provided during
the year (25,240 - (282) (71,587) (854) (97,963)
HE Disposal 143 = 128 4 1,923 2198
& % &7 Exchange realignment (4,489) - (311) (16,436) (145) (21,381)

As at 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 (77,027) = (5,009) (277,819) (2,097) (361,952)
REERITE Deprecation provided during

the year (25,798) - (277) (76,496) (734) (103,305)
BE Impairment (98,307) (1,722) (149) (75,387 (92) (175,657)
HE Disposal = = = 4,985 = 4,985
WaH Written-off 519 = = = = 519
[EH B Exchange realignment (2,611) - (154) (9,231) (72) (12,068)
RZZT=—F+=-FA=1+—H Asat31 December 2021 (203,224) (1,722) (5,589) (433,948) (2,995) (647,478)
BREE : Carrying amount:
R-ZZBE=-—%+=-A=+—H8 Asat31December 2021 903,368 15,951 1,383 705,294 852 1,626,848
MZZE-ZTF+=-H=+—H Asat31 December 2020 429,373 443541 1,725 773,765 1,638 1,650,042
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15.

FEE

(i) FEBMZEEL B REFRRERR KRR

B ISR R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continuea)

Note:

(i) The carrying amount of the Group's leasehold land and buildings reporting

EDNET - periods are analysed as follows:
—E-—fF —ECBF
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
A B A 2 AR ERFE 4D Medium term leases in Mainland China 903,368 429,373

(i) R-ZZE-—F+-A=+—8  A&£HEA
F1E#)331,490,000 80 2 F » HE R#
B(ZT T F : 371,440,000 7T ) B K
HUESAEEMER 2 BITEEEME
25) °

ME - BERREZRERAFE
BN AR A MG MR8 o

EHESE

(ii) As at 31 December 2021, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a net
carrying amount of approximately HK$331,490,000 (2020: HK$371,440,000) were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

—=F

2020

THET

HK$'000

K—H—H As at 1 January 50,928
REFAIRITE Depreciation provided during the year (1,273)
BIEEE Impairment loss -
b 5 &5 Exchange realignment 3,326
W+=—AR=+—H As at 31 December 52,981

CREEERLIMERE BERE
BERETIH(EEBMNFE)
1A B T HAIR A & RN RO BRS o

RZF-_—F+=_A=+—H" ﬁ
FREEEX 47,994,000 BL(ZZT=
T 152,981,000 7C) 2 FEIA
EHRIRITRER(HEE25) ©

£ AR E 2 ERHFIBEN S
B BRRMIFE 18

The right-of-use assets represent the land use rights,
comprising cost of acquiring rights to use certain land, which
are principally located in the PRC, for operating purposes over
fixed periods.

As at 31 December 2021, right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$47,994,000 (2020: HK$52,981,000) have been pledged to
secure bank borrowings (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEMBEEZERERRD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-_Z-—%F+=-A=+—HLI%FJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

BREE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
=
Patent
FHET
HK$'000
AR Cost:
N2 -_TF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 49,963
P& H E 5 Exchange realignment 3,330
RZE-FF+-_A=+—HK As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
—T-_—%—HA—H 53,293
& E7 Exchange alignment 1,598
R-B--%+ZRA=+—-H As at 31 December 2021 54,891
Rt EHERAE - Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
NZZE-_FTF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 15,302
RNEEHH Amortisation for the year 4,587
(=l Exchange alignment 1,263
EA_7_§$+ A=1+—Bk As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
—T-_—%—HA—H 21,152
RNEEHEH Amortisation for the year 4,900
RIEEE Impairment loss 2,738
& 5B Exchange alignment 695
R-B-—-%+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 29,485
BREE : Carrying amount:
R-B--%+ZRA=+—H As at 31 December 2021 25,406
RZE-_TF+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 32,141
BREEZRBEARFBEHNGS Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets are
WG REMIzE18 o disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

PRURAE 17.  MINING RIGHTS
THET
HK$'000
EXZF Cost:

A—E-_TF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 54,939
& L& Exchange realignment 3,661
RZE-TF+-_A=+—HBK As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

—E-_—%—H—H 58,600

fE L& Exchange realignment 1,757
R=—FB-_—%+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 60,357
E-5E: o Accumulated amortisation:
RZE-TF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 9,040
RNEEHEH Amortisation for the year 188
i H &5 Exchange realignment 612
:$:§¢+—H_+ A X As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

—T-_—%—HA—H 9,840
RNE Amortisation for the year -
& L& Exchange realignment 295
R-ZB--$+ZA=+-—H As at 31 December 2021 10,135
AREE - Carrying amount:

R-B=-—-F+=ZA=+-—H As at 31 December 2021 50,222
RZZEZZEF+-_H=+—H As at 31 December 2020 48,760

REER T LI
BT LAB

FEEAEBILUTAH
EOBEANREE  UWBEOHENE

The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine
located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is
amortised by the production quantity over the ore reserve.

BERHR R EER AR QA
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ME - BERRE  (ERE
CERENAE S HEAR

Bz Z-—F+=-_A=+—H1t
FE HEFEREBNETHE
NARBIANETEAEE T1ER
HEBEBEWRGIEAEEIRING
%Eiﬂ %Ffiﬁuu%ﬁkmﬁié
HEN(IBEEAEM]) NEE
RIBTMESR AEBEEERE
FEREDRR  UHERAED A
1,626,848,00078 JT * 47,994,000
JC % 25,406,000/ TR % - BWE

R FTRAEEELABREEEE
TR AR -

WEZER AT EEMBNREE
B zAIKE S8 AXAEEE
BEZBEeELAENZAKE £
B OBIERIUBUYAER —EE
BOREHEEE- Iﬁ@?é&-;um
EERMEEL A1,750,470,000%8
7E

ReEEBEMMA KL €58 IIRE
@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ#i RZZE=——%F
TZA=1T—H  ZEEERER
AEBEEEREREMNRERKSFH
PHRBEENREESREEN - HAY
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18.

F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries
in magnesium product business underperformed and
incurred losses due to the constraints to working capital
and offshore debt restructuring of the Group. In view of the
economic performance of the cash generating unit ("CGU") of
magnesium product business which was worse than expected,
management of the Group concluded there was an indication
for impairment and conducted impairment assessment
on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with carrying amounts of HK$1,626,848,000,
HK$47,994,000 and HK$25,406,000 respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of CGU, to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of
corporate assets when reasonable and consistent basis can
be established. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU was
approximately HK$1,750,470,000.

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the following 5 years with
a pre-tax discount rate is 14.71% as at 31 December 2021.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using 2% growth rate, which is based on the industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for
the value in use calculated is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the cash-generating unit's past
performance and management expectations for the market
development.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
F+ = A =+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEZZT——

IE WE& {§ - {EFAME  18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
EEREREEZREH RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(&)
BEAGHER AEEEEEET Based on the result of the assessment, management of the
ReEASUMKESBENER Group determined that the recoverable amount of the CGU
HE - RESBEEIEEEES is lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount
RAERAFTHNSEME  BE R has been allocated to each category of property, plant and
BRE FRAEEEMEFEE U equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
FEEMNEENRABEIERER finite useful lives such that the carrying amount of each
EREAFEREEREAZ&ZS category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
B -HEREELZT -BREFHE value less cost of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based
Tﬁu ::& Tl EEME - BEK on the value in use calculation and the allocation, impairment
R EAREENEBLEEY loss of HK$175,657,000, HK$5,182,000 and HK$2,738,000 has
FHHEEHEARZEEED 7 been recognised against the carrying amount of property,
& R B 5 $8 175,657,000 7% JT plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
5,182,000 7T & 2,738,000 8T ° respectively within the relevant functions to which these
assets relate.
78
19. INVENTORIES
E_FF
2020
FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 101,454 165,743
& Work in progress - 658
K am Finished goods 113,956 120,734
215,410 287,135

BEMBEEZERERRD
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B

134 »

2F—

. BRE SRR ERRR

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

FEYE S8
BHEEEERRE

A X (B £ (i)

Trade receivables (note (i)
Allowance for expected credit loss

JE W 5 (P& (i)

—ECEHF

2020

FExT

HK$'000 HK$'000

A RAT 168,676

(56,902) (3,490)

149,504 165,186

Bills receivables (note (ii)) - 7,106
149,504 172,292

M EE -

(ii)

E@i&iﬁﬂﬂiﬁz%T ERE B

85k

AEEBEATPZE ST EURETE
7o BRIEH—RTHEBISOKR - BEEFE
ERSRIEEE - ARBE B RKEBERRE
NEEGRIRY SR ERBREERE - RRE
BEEMERARES o ER LS
ZAREEZRRESERFTSRBEDRZE
P BUBRBERNEEETEAR - AEEY
BEREREESRERERTBEMERRSR

HMERRETRE - BKE S ERTEH
S

SN

RZZ-—TF+-A=+—80  BREED
7,106,000 TR E AR E B A RE
o B K ZIEHUAREHE -

D H i U
RANGEBREEBERER)

ZEEH‘\ DTN PR

Note:

(i)

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit
period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are interest-free.

As at 31 December 2020, bills receivable of approximately HK$7,106,000 will
be matured within six months after the end of the reporting period. All the bills
receivables are dominated in RMB.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit loss, is as follows:

LR 60K
61E 90K
91E 180K

Within 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days

E—FF

2020

T8

HK$000 HK$’000
87,468

20,448 49,275
126,364 28,443
149,504 165,186

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
trade receivables are as follows:

—E-EF

2020

FTHET

HK$'000

F9 At the beginning of year 1,726
TEHEEE B FREE Allowance for expected credit loss, net 1,649
b H =58 Exchange difference 115
RER At the end of year 3,490

MNEREEPRABEREEETR
BN Ut EFEHEEEIE - #&
HEDEREAEUEEBER (BlZ
WwEED - ERELY  BERPEAR
R AREERAESEME NG
BRENARBE)NZERE 3
HEMABEETRET - ZtE
RESAEINELER  EEBFEER
RREBBPASE@ERATEN - B
AT AR 0 BT8R R SR 48 B AR R 0 & 12
EBER - BHEEEEBETGFS
B AMIEEL0 ©

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the
probability weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Details of assessment
of expected credit loss was detailed in Note 40.

MERHEEIERBR AR
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%@ EZRMRERRR

EBMBHRELEREIRET
AR

REBEREEITAEEE SR
RENEERBREHDT

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

R=B=-_—5+=-A=+—H

31 December 2021

pb) ok

REAE BERE
Gross

carrying Loss
amount allowance
T T

HK$'000 HK$'000

Expected
loss rate

BIEF( R HA) Current (not past due) 155,221 5,717
BER D1 F Less than 1 year past due 51,185 51,185
206,406 56,902
FEHEER BREAE EBERE
Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FET FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000

NRZE-TF+-_A=+—H 31 December 2020
BIER( R HEA) Current (not past due) 1.885% 168,359 3,173
AL F Less than 1 year past due 100% 317 317
168,676 3,490

oK 380 2 7 4 00 (B 2 e W SR TR /BB I
ATRAYS S R SR ERH A D B P

£ 780 HA B R (B 2 I8 Wk TR B 1A AN
SEZECERINBIEF - R
BBEREE  ARAEERR - A
REEEZUEEANE  URR
EeriDa 220 - BUEAR LS
REERE R E R o
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Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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FEMFFRIE - IRE R EMEUL  21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
I8

—z-2%

2020

THET

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FRIE (M EE () Prepayments (note (i) 202,185 247,988

Ze Deposits 397 208

H A & WO IE (B 5 (i) Other receivables (note (ji)) 7,217 19,187

209,799 267,383

TR EEBERE Allowance for expected credit loss (132) (191)

209,667 267,192

BReWMERESRNE -  BEHEEE None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The

EREHEE M EINIEER - allowance for expected credit loss relates other receivables.

P &E - notes:

(i) R-E-_—FE+=-A=+—8 " BNNFZEE (i) As at 31 December 2021, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of
EREFEZIENRIEL 191,248,000 7T inventory of approximately HK$191,248,000 (2020: HK$241,263,000).
(ZTZZH 1 241,263,00087T) °

(i) HttphgETEeEgRnh EKE S (ii) Other receivable mainly comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
1 B 492,390,000 T(= T = T 4F approximately HK$2,390,000 (2020: HK$10,439,000).
10,439,000/7T) °

ENZIE e kEMEWZIE The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of

JBE=EEERBE ZEHUN T - prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:

—B-Bf

2020

T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH] \ At the beginning of year 170
FEHE B E 8 (BERD ), B (Reversal of allowance)/allowance for

expected credit loss 10

ME 5 = 5E Exchange difference 11

RER At the end of year 191

MERHEEIERBR AR
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2. HERFNELSHEEBRSIK  22. CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

HERITER
—E-EHF
2020
FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
& RIRITAAER Cash and bank balances 25,078 36,104
BERIRITIEK Pledged bank deposits 10,490 10,185
35,568 46,289
B B2 IEIRER(MIZE25)  Less: Pledged deposits for
borrowings (note 25) (10,490) (10,185)
RekReFMEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 25,078 36,104
BEEBRITER Pledged bank deposits:
mENED Current portion 10,490 10,185
JEMENER 1D Non-current portion = -
10,490 10,185

RBERR AEBUARKE
ZHRERREEEEE UAKLB KT
RITERLA32,479.0008 T (=F
— 4 1 43,730,0000870) o AR
TSERABLEMER - A R
& B HINEE R AR I M A B - B
MHEEERTE  AEBEEEB
EREREELEBNRITHEA
RESmABHMER -

RITRESIREBERITEBRITER
MR 2 FEBMERERAE - /FR
SENEReFR - BHTEHFR
ZHRS=EA YREEZEH
TE HBTF SRR R BRER A B, o SRITTE K
REREREFRRERKFERRR
B R AR SR AR AT -

RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H" 1
R ITFE KL 10,490,000 (=
T T 10,185,000/ 70 ) 2 K IF
FIRIT « LAEBER(MIEE25) -
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At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$32,479,000 (2020: HK$43,730,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

As at 31 December 2021, pledged bank deposit of
approximately HK$10,490,000 (2020: HK$10,185,000) was
pledged to bank for secured of borrowings (Note 25).
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B IS SRR PR (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) L
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

BN E SR 23. TRADE PAYABLES
KRB ERREEZABEONEN An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
BIER BRI TR ¢ reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:
—E-EF
2020
FTHET
HK$'000
PR 60K Within 60 days 18,777
61E 90K 61 to 90 days 3,257
BiBE 90K Over 90 days 14,182
36,216
ERNESERTHANE - SEHB The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
BT HEE180K ° settled within 180-day terms.

HinEA TR EETZE AR 24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
SHaE

—EEH

2020

TET

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEETE B (M) Accruals (note (i) 8,875
Hoh e~ 5038 (B EE (i) Other payables (note (ii)) 128,685 63,728
134,351 72,603

BB E I (i) & (v) Contract liabilities (note (iii) and (iv)) 26,321 13,993

MERHEEIERBR AR
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e —

Ft+-A=

%, HitEAREREFERAR
=¥ o)-8i-1C )

BitERRAE

b BN KRR B K

IRIRERMERE -

R -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RZZT=Z—F+=-A=+—8" E:iTHX
FTEAEHFSRETEFL3,777,0007%
(=T =T 4F : 4,703,000/ 5T ) & FE &t
BEEAMNI8800BT(ZT=_FF:
1,000,000 7T) °

RZZE_—F+_A=+—8 HtEH
%KIE?EE?%FEH%U £ 4982,847,0008 7t(=
T =T 1 33,566, 000,%71)/%%1‘1{{%1
RN © 54258290008 L(=F =
127,166,000 7T) °

FHEEEERNERPEITANR  A&E
WBEFHBINEHNEHE PEZZZHE
E’] %fﬁh’%ﬁ’\%ﬂﬁﬁ‘%“%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ Ha

c AFEBRRANABBREPKEL
%13,993,000%7’1(:?:?& 119,742,000
BIT) c AKRBERAEMNFIEFT AL T BIE
BBABMERS - B AT R ARG IE
FEARAERREREMITY - RESTE
W IR S BEREENTEMAE

24,

+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2021

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(continued)

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable
on demand.

note:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2021, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrual salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$3,777,000 (2020: HK$4,703,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$1,889,000 (2020: HK$1,000,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the other payable was mainly represents interest
payable of approximately HK$82,847,000 (2020: HK$33,566,000) and outstanding
amount payable for construction-in-progress of approximately HK$25,829,000
(2020: HK$27,166,000).

The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction
price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time
of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was
included in the contract liability balance was approximately HK$13,993,000
(2020: HK$19,742,000). The Group considers the advance payments schemes
does not contain significant financing component and accordingly the amount
of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money taking
into consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily for the
provision of finance to the Group.

AaEzgEmT (iv) The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:
—E--F —EDEF
2021 2020
THET FTERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
R—A—Rz##% Balance at 1 January 13,993 19,742
AARFERENBORETER M= Revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied during the year (13,993) (19,742)
FRWEIRSEBZ & A BEM Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving
deposits during the year 25,902 12,677
& K E5 Exchange realignment 419 1,316
R+=—RA=+—Bz#&# Balance at 31 December 26,321 13,993

1‘&0 N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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LN 25. BORROWINGS
—EEHF
2020
FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
IRITER Bank borrowings 137,080 134,524
A8 SR (PR Gi) R (i) Other borrowings (note (i) and (ii)) 738,963 737,795
876,043 872,319
CENCIEIE Borrowings (note v):
—E Nk IRE KB H Due within one year or on demand 876,043 796,938
—FLA B TER Due within a period of more than one
A F B 8 A 21 2R year but not exceeding two years — 75,381
) 876,043 872,319
B SMEIEREBBEESRE Less: Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities - (75,381)
5'”"!5%@)],%%@%’5 Amounts shown under current liabilities 876,043 796,938
B R BB AR Less: The carrying amount of bank and
BEREFRZFEMEBERENR other borrowings that are
EEMIRITREAMER repayable on demand due to
FERE(RBAEETYIR) loan defaults or breach of
(BfsE Vi) loan covenants (shown
under current liabilities) (note vi) (839,815) (760,580)
o MR —FANEMSIZESR  Amounts shown under current liabilities
PR 2 SRAT R AL for the bank and other borrowings
BEFIERBABE 2SR that are repayable within one year
or on demand 36,228 36,358
B Borrowings:
B (BRE () R (i) Secured (note (i) and (iii)) 256,654 253,848
IR Unsecured 619,389 618,471
876,043 872,319
MERHEEIERBR AR
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25. (&R (=)

F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

25. BORROWINGS (continued)

AEEEXRZIEBME(TEERE The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
AME)EBELLOT - contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as
follows:
BZE
—B-—F —E-EF
+=A=+-10 EEEREY:
ILEE LFEE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
THET THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERF= Effective interest rate:
fE%'J—?—Tﬁ?K Fixed-rate borrowings 4% to 18% 4% to 18%
SFENFIRER Variable-rate borrowings AR A A 4.25% to 5.48%

BRA T EEE : Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:
F=BF
2020
FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR RMB 114,295 111,739
BIT HK$ 563,785 563,785
ETT us$ 197,963 196,795
876,043 872,319

.”‘2 N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021
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i

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

I3 1E 3R 49214,295,0008 T(Z T = F
F 211,739,000 T ) H—RARKE A
AIMARERUREFROYE  BER
R #9331,4900008 T RIEAEEEN
47994000 TL(ZE=FF : ME - WE
KRB #9371,440,000 8 T A RFEREELE
#952,981,000 78 T ) 1EHELR -

HpEReEQREERAANERD
42,359,000 7L(= T = T £ : 42,109,000
HIT) 5 (b) & F #276,604,0008 (= T
= T F 12756860008 0 ) Ric)E H #
% R Ming Xin Developments Limited & %
420,000,000 7T ZFHRER_T_TFH
AR E S (K 28) EFTHAE -

RZEBE-Z—F-A=-+=H BEHEMA
AEEEMEE 2B EHX 155,604,000 T
HUAEEBRFD EREBERENRLE
£ o

BEAAR—RE2EMBRARABKSRA
RITERSRMAR]DMNER D  BRSR
AAEIE MZMHE QR 27,000,000 T E

E
A °

ZERNFEBFEES 4.99% = 5.04% + ZIH
SHEERBEMERRF BN EE -

B R & B A R B B X4 /42,359,000 7T
ZT T 42,109,000 7T) - BG) L
SRR R RER - R () EEMRFR Alpha
Sino International Limited ([Alpha Sino )
BEHEZELEAROER  (i)RITEXRLD
10,490,000 8L (=T =F4 : 10,185,000/
TOVEIEA -

R-B-_—H+-"fF=+—8 " RBITEZKL
Ht RO MEERFELR8.12% (=T =
T4FE 1 8.02%) °

ZE TR T RYE B R 7 P8R KA B R B
H o

AEEETEEREEZBERK+TAY
BRI RFER AR - RZT T F
tA=ZB  AARAHAARIERRKR
ERAFUELEBEXEENEEL A S
#3101,750,000%T M3 T 2 B ERIE -
bt AEETRREXRE TEREHE - BE
—E-—F+-A=+—8 FEHLEA
839,815,000 c(=ZF =F4 : 760,580,000
BIL)NERBRERXEREREHE - I
R-E-—F+-A=+—BRGEAPBER
MERFDEATHERE - AEBELHES
EEARBREHARSERBRE - HERS
IS mERMERT - LA REE I
RIEST -

HEC

B ISR R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
T —F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2021

25. BORROWINGS (continued)

Note:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Secured borrowing of approximately HK$214,295,000 (2020: HK$211,739,000)
were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of a fellow subsidiary and pledged
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$331,490,000 and right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$47,994,000 (2020: property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$371,440,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$52,981,000).

Included in other borrowings was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$42,359,000
(2020: HK$42,109,000); (b) bond of approximately HK$276,604,000 (2020:
HK$275,686,000) and (c) bond from the immediate shareholder, Ming Xin
Developments Limited of HK$420,000,000 which was reclassified from convertible
bond (Note 28) in 2020.

Included in the other borrowings of the Group were borrowings of approximately
HK$155,604,000 which the lender have commenced litigations against the Group
to repay the outstanding balances on 22 February 2021.

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and International Finance Corporation ("IFC"), IFC had granted a loan
facility of US$27,000,000 to the subsidiary.

The loan bears interest at variable interest rate from 4.99% to 5.04% and the
amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreement.

The loan from IFC of approximately HK$42,359,000 (2020: HK$42,109,000) was
secured by (i) corporate guarantee given by Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited; and (i) pledged of shares in Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
as owned by Alpha Sino International Limited ("Alpha Sino”), the substantial
shareholder; (iii) deposit with banks of approximately HK$10,490,000 (2020:
HK$10,185,000).

The weighted effective interest rate of bank borrowing and other borrowing as at
31 December 2021 is approximately 8.12% (2020: 8.02%).

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

Certain of the Group's facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants as
are commonly found in lending arrangements. On 3 July 2020, the Company
announced CS, the controlling shareholder of the Company, defaulted in the
redemption of its subordinated notes of SGD101.75 million in principal amount.
As a result, the Group could not fulfill covenants on certain borrowings. As at 31
December 2021, borrowings with aggregate carrying amount of HK$839,815,000
(2020: HK$760,580,000) were in default of repayment or loan covenants and were
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021. The Group is negotiating with the lenders to refinance
the borrowings at the end of reporting period. As at the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed
nor repaid.

BERHR R EER AR QA
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B —BRRZRE

R-B-_—F+-_A=1t—BEkZ=
T+ _A=+T—HEN—ER
RZFELSERM  RERIZER
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EIiR °

—

F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

26. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the amount
due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

27. DEFERRED REVENUE

T-BF

2020

THERT

HK$'000 HK$'000

BB EME 2 BT BN Government grants received

related to assets 72,834
ETEL@E%%Z?‘ EI WLy 7 95 In order to encourage the development of magnesium industry,
TeBEREXERA = — Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Limited

E/\Eaiﬁ},[BZK_HT_L_1ﬁTgIJJ o R
AR mﬁfﬂmﬁEMﬁ%
ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ AR B E
BH(TEB) ) AR EH A ER MR
=YE - BB MERIBHERE o

HE T - Fr-_FT_FTF+=
A=+—BItEE  AEBITER
BEMER MEBE_TE-_—FK
—E-ZEF+-_A=+—HULFE
WEBEREMEMWA o EEKA
BREE N TR E X = REFT R -

PrUs sl Ak 3 B W R IR 2 B B > #1tA
FERRERIA R ERANURITE
ERX  MRATHEEEARSE
IR s P RERR o

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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entered into an agreement with the local government in 2012.
Pursuant to the agreement, the local government agree to
provide financial assistance (the “Assistance”) to Baishan City
Tianan Magnesium Resources Company Limited to improve
their production technology and enhance the capacity of the
property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
has not received any Assistance and there were no other
income was recognised for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020. The carrying amount of deferred revenue
increased due to the arise of exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset
by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 30 November 2017, as part of consideration for the
acquisition of the Fullocean Group, the Company has issued
convertible bonds which bear an interest of 4% per annum
payable in arrear semi-annually with aggregate principal
amount of HK$420,000,000 pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement entered into by Capital Idea Investments Limited
(“CIIL"), Sure Sino Global Limited ("Sure Sino"), Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and the Company.

According to the Group's accounting policy, the convertible
bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument. The fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. The fair
value assessment of the convertible bonds was performed
by an independent professional valuer. The equity element is
presented in equity under the heading of “convertible bond
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability
element on initial recognition is 14.6% per annum.

The convertible bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.40. The maturity date
of the Convertible Bonds is 3 years from the date of issue.
Conversion may occur at any time before maturity date of the
Convertible Bonds. The Company will redeem the convertible
bonds if the bonds have not been converted on maturity date.

The convertible bonds expired on 30 November 2020 and the
obligations to the bond holder were transferred to “borrowings”
during the year ended 31 December 2020. The amount was
unsecured repayable on demand and carried interest at 4%
per annum.

MEREEEZERER AR
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

For more details of the terms of convertible bonds, please
refer to the circular dated on 26 October 2017.

The convertible option initially included in convertible bonds
equity reserve was transferred to retained earnings upon
expiry.

The liability component of convertible bond recognised in the
statement of consolidated financial position was calculated as

follow:
THET
HK$'000
—E-_FTF—-—H—H As at 1 January 2020 385,072
uf)\,\ﬁ??iﬂ/uﬁfﬂﬁ Effective interest expenses charged 51,728
B RERFERXT Interest expenses paid and payable (16,800)
EEEER Transfer to borrowings (420,000)

R_F_FF+_H=1+—H

As at 31 December 2020 -

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021
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AEFHIA 29.

FANEG S P HARN K IER 2 BT
IR SRR ER D M E BB AN T

DEFERRED TAXATION

The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year as follows:

EEREAE Deferred Tax Liabilities
AHRRES ERAEEE #at
Convertible Right-of-
bond use assets Total
TERT TERT TERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-_FTF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 6,000 2,872 8,872
SPAERE Bm R EAM Credited to consolidated
ZHBAE statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (6,000) (75) (6,075)
bE &5 Exchange realignment - 189 189
RZTZTF As at 31 December 2020 and
‘|‘_ﬂ_‘|' H & 1 January 2021
—E_—%—-A—H - 2,986 2,986
STASRABEEEAM Credited to consolidated
Z2HEHKAK statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income - (80) (80)
i& &5 Exchange realignment - 89 89
R-Z=-—F As at 31 December 2021
+=A=+—H - 2,995 2,995
AEBRBEEBIBBR I T The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland

1?5%\%&%?&%%%%)@5%\“’7%
39,301,000 T(= & = T F:
1,817,000 7T ) » I[—H/\, PR HA 4K
HEEBBEENQGMRKER
g M) o A& B R R AR B i 2 A
RIS E1E4711,081,0008T(Z 2=
TF:TERL) BR—ERFRE
HAAR S5 R R FE SR Bl i F o A 1 BfT
%’Aaﬂﬁ@ﬂé—ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁaﬁﬂmﬁ,ﬁ
REREMNTEABE L EHBR

AR HREER - Hﬂ(?filﬁti)@ﬂé
ME - WAERBRLEHREEE °

Revenue Department ("IRD") assessment of approximately
HK$39,301,000 (2020: HK$1,817,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also
has tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$11,081,000 (2020: HKS$Nil) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised by these subsidiaries.

MERHEEIERBR AR
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29.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred Tax Liabilities (continuea)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group
is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2021, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding dividend
taxes of the Group's subsidiaries, associate, and joint ventures
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries, associate and joint
ventures will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. There was no significant temporary difference
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associate in Mainland China at the end of the reporting period
(2020: Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30. BRA 30. SHARE CAPITAL
—ECEHE
2020
THExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE Authorised:
13,000,000,000 13,000,000,000
—Z-Z4 :13,000,000,000) (2020: 13,000,000,000)
REAREE 0108 T2 BBk ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,300,000 1,300,000
ERITRAR : Issued and fully paid:
6,584,390,058 6,584,390,058
ZZT T : 6,584,390,058) (2020: 6,584,390,058)
MEREEN0B T LB ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each 658,439 658,439
REBE_ZE-_—F+=_A=+—H There was no movements in the Company’s issued ordinary
IEFEA ARARIEEHTERRH shares during the year ended 31 December 2021.
=4
7 L& °©
HE-_ZTZ-_TF+-_A=+—H During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company issued
EFEARN RRAIRITEBERRE 10,000,000 shares at an exercise price of HK$0.30 per share
BERITHFEEERIOE T EIT upon the exercise of share options. For more details, please
10,000,000k fxfn - HRAEETE - & refer to note 31.
2HME31 -
RARSEITRAC EBFMT - A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share

capital is as follows:

& B Ap
RH#E BE  RERE B

Number of Share

shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
FTER FTET FTET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZE-ZTF—H—B  Asat1January 2020 6,574,390,058 657,439 1,560,077 2217516
TR ERERETZ Issue of ordinary shares upon

Ak exercise of share options 10,000,000 1,000 2,557 3,557
RZZE-TF+-A As at 31 December 2020,

=+—H ZF=—% 1 January 2021 and
—A—BEZZF=—%F 31 December 2021
+=-A=+—H” 6,584,390,058 658,439 1562634 2,221,073
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3.

SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the Scheme, the Company may grant options to the directors
or employees of the Group and any substantial shareholder,
consultant or adviser, distributor, contractor, supplier, service
provider, agent, customer and business partner of the Group
(the "Eligible Participant’) to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions in
relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the directors
may determine in its absolute discretion, provided that such
terms and conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other
term conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the Stock
Exchange’'s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
option; (ii) the average prices of the shares on Main Board as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle
the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or substantial
shareholder from the grant date of the share options up to the
designated exercise date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Group.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Group, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of such grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (ii) (where the securities are listed on
the Stock Exchange), having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be
approved by shareholders of the Group.
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3. BIRE =) 31.
EZE--Ft+ZRA=1+-—

SHARE OPTIONS (continuea)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

BLEFE

»n
B
FR FR FR FR +=A
Rz Tz 2z KRBz Eqr=[ TEE
BRE BB AE BRE IR #»E (BF=E)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled [ETELL Held at Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price
2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 (note)
BT
HK$
() EE
Employees 163,400,000 - - - - 163,400,000 0.4
140,000,000 - - - - 140,000,000 0.3
(B) E=
Directors
Th it 5 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
AR 3,000,000 - - = (3,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Jing Chao*
o 5,000,000 - - = (5,000,000) - 0.4
Meng Jian®
BIA 3L 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
RER 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
RAR 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
216,400,000 - - = (8,000,000) 208,400,000 0.4
140,000,000 - - - - 140,000,000 0.3
356,400,000 - - = (8,000,000) 348,400,000 -
—&ENA—AEHT & resigned on 1 August 2021
& —FEXA=1+8EE g retired on 30 June 2021
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3. BB w) 31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
PCTECEF+ZHA=1— For the year ended 31 December 2020

BLEFE

»n
S i
FR FR FR FR +=A
gz Tz 2z KRBz Eqr=| TEE
BRE BB BRE IR B»E (BF=E)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled [ETELL Held at Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price
2020 the year the year the year the year 2020 (note)
BT
HK$
() EE
Employees 163,400,000 - - - - 163,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 = - = (40,000,000) - 0.5
150,000,000 = (10,000,000) = - 140,000,000 0.3
(B) X
Directors
TRt 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
JbER R 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao
Ea 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
EEZATHL 5,000,000 - - - (5,000,000) - 0.4
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP*
BBIm 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
RAR 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
FasR G 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
221,400,000 - - = (5,000,000) 216,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - = (40,000,000) - 0.5
150,000,000 = (10,000,000) = = 140,000,000 0.3
411,400,000 - (10,000,000) = (45,000,000) 356,400,000 -
* RZZBE-_ZFA=1+HEME * retired on 30 June 2020
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Options outstanding at 31 December 2021 have the following
expiry date, exercise period and exercise prices.

BEAH JE % B 4 76 BRTEE BRERR
Exercise prices Number of
Grant date Expiry date Exercise period per Share Options
BT
HK$
—\FMA=+HHA “Z#+-A-thB B-Z-\F+t-A—H#EZR
ZE-=f+ZA=ZthH 0.4 208,400,000
25 April 2018 29 December 2023 From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
“NEXAZ+HER  ZZZZF/\A=t-B BZE-AFNLA-BEZE
—E__F)\A=1—H 0.3 140,000,000
25 July 2019 31 August 2022 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2022
348,400,000
RAFEHRBEE - ZEr81IE T A 3 As at the date of the annual report, the total number of

TZARRAIRMNEBEEH(RE Lt E
FRAITIE BB B4 ) 5 805,839,005 %
HERARRIEHEBHITRALY
122% ° LT 8l 2 T FHLO A6
FoUER_E-_+F+-AMH
IEy

Shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme
(including the above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 805,839,005, representing approximately 12.2% of the
issued share capital of the Company as of the date thereof.
The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 6 years and

to be expired on 4 December 2027.
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3.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

HE-_Z-—%F+=-A=+—HLI%FJE For the year ended 31 December 2021
3. Bl s
BE_T-NFt+-_A=+—HL

32.
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B0.285 8L LAl 1T (E - TRHARR(E
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€ £ & B R K1.459% % 1.758%
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TR B 25 R 1.64 LT HIRR(E [

BHIREREMTERIKE - IR
BH_ZT—ZTF+_A=+—HE
—E-NFEtA-TRAANEER
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32.

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended 31
December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of HK$0.285, at the
grant date and adjusted for the effect of the share subdivision,
exercise price shown above, expected volatility ranged from
46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free interest rate of 1.459%
to 1.758%. Expected life of Options of approximately 1.10
to 3.10 years and dividend payout ratio 1.64. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
from 31 December 2010 to 25 July 2019. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, approximately HK$2,232,000 (2020:
HK$3,975,000) were charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

No Options were granted during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 63 of
the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company's reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies Act”)
amounted to HK$480,084,000 (2020: HK$1,003,291,000).
Under the Companies Act, the Company's contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution
made out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the
Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or
the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less
than its liabilities.

The Group's special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
the Company's shares in 1993, and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.
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MEXAMELESE2ZEER  33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Eit—%
RER2HB EAFE wst
Due to Interest
a shareholder  Borrowings Payables Total
THER THER TH T THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-—%—-H—H As at 1 January 2021 33,959 872,319 33,566 939,844
BERERE Financing cash flow (12,201) (793) (2,068) (15,062)
i 5 &5 Exchange realignment - 4,517 148 4,665
HEMIERE &S : Other non-cash movement;
FEATH 8 Interest payable 18,200 51,201 69,401
RZZE-—%+-A=+—H Netdebtas at 31 December 2021
RERFE 39,958 876,043 82,847 998,848
-4
BRZHE B UBRRES wst
Due to Convertible
ashareholder ~ Borrowings bond Total
TER TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-Z%—F—H As at 1 January 2020 113,028 487 442 385,072 985,542
BERERE Financing cash flow (96,469) (64,677) - (141,146)
BHDE Reclassification - 420,000 (420,000) -
] Exchange realignment 600 5,614 - 6,214
HE IR e &9 - Other non-cash movement:
FEAH 8 Interest payable 16,800 3,940 34,928 55,668
RZZB-ZTE+-F=+—HB  Netdebt as at 31 December 2020
RERS 5 33,959 872,319 = 906,278
FREXS 34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION
BHE-_FT-_—F+-A=+—8HL During the year ended 31 December 2021, additions of
FEHRE W% BEAXREBEZAR property, plant and equipment was partially settled by
EMTHGEERGEERESE DA inventories and prepayment for inventories with the amounts
#941,090,0007% JT 5% 53,299,000/8 of approximately HK$41,090,000 and HK$53,299,000
TLFT#EE respectively.
BEEKH 35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

AEBUNFEEEEEAERNER
BB RMEE14 1522 %25 °

Details of the Group's borrowings, which are secured by
certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 22
and 25.
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36. 1EIE 36. COMMITMENTS
REBERIMEBRITE THE A% The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
g ¢ of the reporting period:
E_FF
2020
FTHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AMERIERHE - Contracted, but not provided for:
Y - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 13,266

3. EXFAEALRS
(a) BREHZHERELMSEHF (a)
MR DN RER AEE
AT EABEALRS

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with related parties during the
year:

BZE BE
—= :—ﬂf =3 _ﬁﬂi
+=—A=+—H ‘|'—H =t+—H
LEFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
M FET FExT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
REEZER AR Management fee paid to
ZERE an intermediate holding company (i) 1,200

GEX

(i) MEEZERARINZEEEREA
100,000 ;c(=ZZF = 4 : 100,000
8 7T ) URER o

156 N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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Notes:

(i) The management fee paid to an intermediate holding company was
charged at a monthly rate of HK$100,000 (2020: HK$100,000).
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) AKEBEXTEEBAERMY : (b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:
—2F
2020
FHET
HK$'000
BE(ME9) Directors (Note 9) 1,188
{’@IE’;:EE/\E\ o Other key management personnel:
FekEMEEHESER Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 3,355
4,543
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As at 31 December 2021, the amount due to a shareholder
is approximately HK$39,958,000 (2020: HK$33,959,000).
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand (note 26).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
published on 1 August 2021 (the "Announcement”),
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd.
and Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Company
Limited, the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, entered into guarantee agreements
with a bank to guarantee the payment obligations
of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited ("Shandong Hongri”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company),
in respect of the loans amounting to RMB124.96 million
advanced by that bank to Shandong Hongri under the
loan agreements. Shandong Hongri is accordingly a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, and the guarantees constituted
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules and were subject to the reporting, announcement
requirements and independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However, the Company had not complied with the
reporting, announcement requirements and independent
shareholders’ approval requirement in respect of the
Guarantees at the relevant time. The Company has
taken various remedial measures to enhance its internal
control and prevent recurrence of such non-compliance
as disclosed in the Announcement.
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F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e) Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

—  Save as disclosed in the item (a), (c) and (d) above,
the Directors consider that the other related party
transactions disclosed in the Note 37 do not fall
under the definition of “connected transaction” in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

— The Directors confirm that the transactions under
“management fee paid to an intermediate holding
company” set forth in item (a) above are fully
exempt from the reporting, announcement, circular
and shareholders’ approval requirements under
Rule 14A.73 and Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

— The Directors confirm that the transaction under
“amount due to Ming Xin Developments Limited”
set forth in item (c) was conducted on normal
commercial terms or better, and not secured by
the assets of the Group, and thus are fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement, circular and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.73 and Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the
other related party transactions disclosed in the Note 37 and
elsewhere in these financial statements do not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules



8. FHEBE S 2EMIA

ZHemTITANBRERRZER
BT :

B ISR R RE (£8)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

—F-—-f%t=A=t-H
31 December 2021

FEWE 7 IR & R R B
P RiRE N H b R RIR
ZERAE
EEAIRITER
ReMReFEEAR

R
5% N g —d
cREE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
TERT
HK$'000

Financial assets

Trade and bills receivables 149,504
Financial assets included in deposits

and other receivables 5,092
Pledged bank deposits 10,490

Cash and cash equivalents 25,078

190,164

e E SRR

P RE RN IA R T E R
ZERARE

EEN

e — R AR 2 KA

RE
BAGTEZ
cRBaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
THERT
HK$'000

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 13,364
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 134,351
Borrowings 876,043
Amount due to a shareholder KPALY:]

(X RAT
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38. IZMEREI D 2EMI A%

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continuea)

—E-FFt+t=-A=1-H
31 December 2020

RE

BAFTEZ

eREE

Financial

assets at

TREE Financial assets amortised cost

THERT

HK$'000

FEN B Z IR R RN R Trade and bills receivables 172,292
5 Bt R E A U ERIA Financial assets included in deposits

LERMEE and other receivables 8,765

BERBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 10,185

ReKFEEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 36,104

227,346

REH

BAGEZ

cRAas

Financial

liabilities at

cREE Financial liabilities amortised cost

THET

HK$'000

JET B SR Trade payables 36,216
Bl B E A FE A5 FOB K B B Financial liabilities included in other

ZemasE payables and accruals 72,603

B Borrowings 872,319

e —RIRE 2 5B Amount due to a shareholder 33,959

1,015,097
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
F+ = A =+—HILFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2021

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities, the balance were approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings, and
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder and convertible
bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

MERHEEIERBR AR
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6. BIEEREEBBRREE 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(&) (continued)
FEER &) Credit risk (continued)
RZE-_—F+_A=+—HBHHXE Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December
KRR O R F R 2021
TRETREBEASEEERERNE The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
EEERGAEERRBHRO  Hx exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
EERAEEBRETRAEERE which is mainly based on historical and forward looking
HEMERNABEFNETLENK elements of the Group, unless other information is
AR5 %5 7 Bl Al BU45 #) & K RIBR A available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
UWEREBEZEZ—FR_T_FTF classification as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
TZA=T—BMFREBESHE -
B E 5 R Trade receivables
BHBEE IRE#AE BERE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZZ—F+=H=+—HB 31 December 2021
BVER (K mER) Current (not past due) 155,221
BER D1 Less than 1 year past due 51,185

206,406

BHERE fREAE BRRE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THET THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-FFF+-_A=+—H 31 December 2020
BUER( R HR) Current (not past due) 1.885% 168,359 3,173
BELRF Less than 1 year past due 100% 317 317
168,676 3,490
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

Financial assets included in deposit and other receivables

AHERER ARE4RE BERE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THERT THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZEZ—F+=A=+—H Asat31 December 2021
E Current 2.59% 5,092 132
AHERR BRI 48 (E EBERE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THERT THERT
HK$'000 HK$'000
MNZZE-ZZTHF+-_A=+—H Asat31 December 2020
ME Current 2.18% 8,765 191
EAEWRE J%D/(&iﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%{% In respect of bills receivables and cash and cash equivalents,
WZ SERBABRIZEH A BAE the credit risk is considered to be low as the counterparties

PAMBRAERR - BEX BY
SR L - B B8
BEEFREETHEARETAR
E-E - —FR_T_BFI_f
= AR -

R E B
NEE G E BT RITHEREEE F

RAERE ﬁ@w@ﬂTrW(ﬁ%ﬁ
BREDRI2EMFE22 & 25) o
HREEERAEAEEN AR
BEMRERTITEKR  HRAFEFRNE
12 Z N B 17 R 3R b B ok H b ¥ e
SEH o
RRBITERIZF B RFITER
FIRITHIS R RAEE - NEB IR
HERBEREFEREAR - KEBM
HeREMNXAREEEPRIRIT
KR M AE XTI R A& o

are reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not have
defaults in the past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of
cash at bank is assessed to be close to zero and no provision
was made as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to pledged bank deposits and fixed-rate borrowings (see Notes
22 and 25 respectively for details).

As management considers the Group's exposure to the above
fair value interest rate risk is not significant, no interest
rate swaps or other hedging activities are undertaken by
management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on
bank deposits and variable-rate bank borrowings. The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and borrowings.

BEMBEEZERERRD
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40.

F+=A=+—HILFfE For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings as at 31
December 2021 had been 10 basis points (0.1% per annum)
(2020: 10 basis points) higher/lower than the actual effective
interest rate, the Group's post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$85,000 (2020:
post tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$84,000).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate.
However, such exposure is minimal to the Group as the bank
balances are all short-term in nature.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group's bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 31
December 2021 based on the carrying value of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

The following tables described the maturity profile of the
Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specifically, borrowing with repayment on demand clause
and amounts being demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time band.
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HE-Z-—F+=A=1+—HIL%FE For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

il 357
Vil
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

—F—

—_—

SR-F
On
demand or
less than
1 year

TR

HK$'000

31 December 2021

BE-f

Over

1 year
TER
HK$'000

—FT=AZt-H

AERRS
hEAE REE
Total
undiscounted
cash flows
TAR
HK$'000

Carrying
ENT
TiEn
HK$'000

ENEHKR Trade payables 13,364 13,364 13,364
SIREMENFEREER  Financial liabilities included
LEBARE in other payables and accruals 134,351 134,351 134,351
B3 Borrowings 947,157 947,157 876,043
Ef—4RR TR Amount due to a shareholder 39,958 39,958 39,958
1,134,830 1,134,830 1,063,716
“2-EETAZT-A
31 December 2020
Jill: 337 REXY AERRS
L FiES SR-F BE-F REAH BEE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
TER TAn TEn TEn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERNEHE Trade payables - 36,216 - 36,216 36,216
FIBHMEMTEREER  Financial liabilties included
LERERE in other payables and accruals - 72,603 - 72,403 72,603
B3 Borrowings 8.02 862,794 79,855 942,649 872,319
Ef—2RE 58 Amount due to a shareholder = 33,959 = 33,959 33,959
1,005,572 79,855 1085427 1,015,097
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—&F+=A=+—HIFJE For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposures to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its significant foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020.
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AQT 2B kR R 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
KRalRmERRZFBERAKRE Information about the statement of financial position of the
BT Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
—EB-—F e ia
s =k =l + — A =+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
MEBARZKRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,752,000 1,752,000
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE UL BT B N B Zk IR Amounts due from subsidiaries 236,597 692,926
TEfI 1B Prepayments 2,387 978
He MIRITE S Cash and bank balances 72 73
MEVEERER Total current assets 239,056 693,977
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
Hib e IE R ERTE A Other payables and accruals 87,576 31,817
IRITIE Bank borrowings 22,785 22,785
HbfER Other borrowings 696,604 695,686
e — R R EFIA Amount due to a shareholder 45,568 33,959
ViEIR=R L Total current liabilities 852,533 784,247
RBEEFEE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (613,477) (90,270)
EEAERABARS TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,138,523 1,661,730
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K. RATZEBEARRT 2 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
—E-—F —E-EHF
+=B=+—H ==
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
FET FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFE Net assets 1,138,523 1,661,730
s EQUITY
BEEITRA Issued capital 658,439 658,439
i (HIsT) Reserves (note) 480,084 1,003,291
R iEEe Total equity 1,138,523 1,661,730
MR ERRN _E__F=A=1+— The financial statement was approved and authorised for issue
AEESEALEETNED - W h by the board of directors on 31 March 2022 and was signed on
TIESREEE - its behalf by:
Mt E A St Hf 44 47 +
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
o 2
Director Director

168 N Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021



R

— =

|

-’

B IS $R R P RE (48)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 9
BZE2—ZF-—%+=-F=+—HLL5%JE For the year ended 31 December 2021

. AR Z2BEARRT 2) 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
HisE - Note:
AARZEEREWLT - A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

X UHRRES

RHEER BABE (B RERE BRERE REER M
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
FAET FET AT FET FET FTET FTART
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-TF—F—B  Asat1January 2020 1,560,077 21,976 49 86,548 27,779 622,307) 1074492
FEBER Loss and total comprehensive
2HEHRYAE expense for the year - - — — — (77.176) (77.176)
iR Exercise of share options 2,557 — — — (557) — 2,000
BRI Share option lapsed - - - - (2,477) 2477 —
REZERND TR Equity settled share-based
ZR5 transactions - — — — 3,975 - 3,975
EREHRK Transfer to equity of
EHER convertible bonds - — - (86,548) - 86,548 -
RZTZTF As at 31 December 2020 and
+ZA=+-8k 1 January 2021
—=-—4-f-A1 1,562,634 (610,458) 1,003,291
FEBER Loss and total comprehensive
2EHRYAE expense for the year (525,439) (525,439)
B AR E Share option lapsed 628 —
AR E R 3K Equity settled share-based
ZR5 transactions
R-B=-F As at 31 December 2021
+=A=+-8 1,562,634 (1,135,269) 480,084
KRBl 2 BARBRERE-—NAN= The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess
FARARNR KRG EWRIFTETZE of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
EEHEAmMKBZMEBERARRKRG 2 pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
A EBE AR B FERD MmETT the Company's shares in 1993, over the nominal value of
ZARRNBRRMDEEBEZEBMD - BIE the Company’'s shares issued in exchange therefor. Under
—AWN\—FBFRERFE —EA the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make
AIAJEE TIBERT  UBARKRER distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in
NZFIEREKEELDIK certain circumstances.
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(a)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Reference is made to the disclosure in Note 3 of these
financial statements, in terms of the CS's payment
default and the cross defaults constitute an event of
default in respect of certain borrowings of the Group and
certain debts are immediately payable on demand in
accordance with their terms. Further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company to update the shareholders
and investors of the Company in relation to any
developments on the financial reorganization and related
material legal proceedings.

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition
(the "Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC acting
on behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund
S.P. (the "Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021 against the
Company in the High Court for an order that the Company
be wound up by the High Court. The Petition was filed
against the Company for its failure to repay the Petitioner
an outstanding principal of the notes together with the
unpaid interest and default interest in an aggregate
amount of US$20,707,777.78, which was pursuant to
a subscription agreement of 7% unsubordinated and
unsecured notes due 2020 in a principal amount of
US$20,000,000 entered into between the Petitioner as
the subscriber and the Company as the issuer dated 7
August 2017. On 23 February 2022, the High Court has
further ordered that the hearing of the Petition has been
adjourned to 27 May 2022 before the Companies Judge.

On 2 June 2021, a PRC subsidiary were served by a writ
of summons (the “Writ") in a court in PRC by a PRC bank
against the PRC subsidiary for its noncompliance to
the terms and conditions of a loan granted. According
to the Statement of Claim, the bank is pursuing claims
against the PRC subsidiary for an immediate repayment
of all outstanding principal and interest, in the sum of
approximately RMB64,266,667, as well as the default
interest thereon, further or other relief and related costs.
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On 2 June 2021, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited ("Baishan Tianan”), a PRC
subsidiary, was served by a writ of summons (the “Writ")
in a court in PRC by a PRC bank against Baishan Tianan
for its non-compliance to the terms and conditions of a
loan granted. According to the statement of claim, the
bank is pursuing claims against the PRC subsidiary for
an immediate repayment of all outstanding principal and
interest, in the sum of approximately RMB64,266,667, as

e kFE  BiHARK well as the default interest thereon, further or other relief

64,266,667 7T * E R #E KX A B and related costs.

N BEHNFRIR - Yﬁﬁﬂﬂ%&*ﬁ

BEMA -

ﬁ(\\f? ZZE=R+X8 " On 16 March 2022, the Company received a written
ARWEEME B IUT R ruling from Baishan Intermediate People’s Court of Jilin

&
Eiilz?c(ﬂél WoERe 1) ¥ B
AREHBITHEE AR
B IRIBRE - ZBRITHBEE
BHEWRZER 8L -
14 EENMRERE  SHHS
=F  EHAURLZORITE
Fr&EHHA—F - BRIt B
WRLZNEHARNEZEBZ N
REEHEE -

SR LR BHAILRE
BENEERTEFEAREE
BRNBERT  KRREHE
BT eHAKRENERLE
ELEBATNEE -

= M%ﬁﬂi’ri}%,ﬁféﬁifﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ ’
J_%.q;%ﬁ /\_

ZRARAFEHAE T _—

Province (the "Baishan Court”) issued to Baishan Tianan,
which stated that according to the ruling, the bank
applied for the frozen of 1 plot of land, 14 properties and
the mining rights owned by Baishan Tianan, with a frozen
period of three years, and the frozen of bank accounts
held by Baishan Tianan with a frozen period of one year,
pursuant to which Baishan Tianan cannot transfer or
disposal of the frozen assets during the frozen period.

In view of the above and the freezing assets owned by
Baishan Tianan will not affect the Group's continued
operation, in the absence of unforeseen circumstances,
the Company is not expected the freezing would have
a material adverse effect on the Group's business
operations.

Baishan Tianan will continue the negotiation with the
bank to have the freezing order released as soon as

possible.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company

FNA—Bz2zRE  ARFIHK dated 1 August 2021, the Company received a written
B rm AR AR AR (TERT ruling (the “Ruling”) from Linyi Intermediate People's
Eh DB —EFBRITEREB Court (“Linyi Court”) regarding a PRC bank’s application

BHEIMITZIRTTRIILERA B IR
HHEEAE AR 124,960,000

to enforce guarantees of loans amounting to RMB124.96
million granted to Shandong Hongri by the bank that

TEE’?E TJ*T%E’JEE@EUW have been provided by certain subsidiaries of the Group
) BRERITBASES and Ms. Chi Bi Fen, the former legal representative of
$W% ARMBER T (KA Shandong Hongri.
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42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

43.

The Ruling stated that bank deposits of the certain
subsidiaries of the Group and Ms. Chi Bi Fen in total
sum of approximately RMB125 million or assets of
equivalent value may be frozen for periods of up to
one year (if cash), two years (if moveable assets) and
three years (if immovable property or other types of
assets). The Bank applied for 13 plots of land owned by
Shandong Hongri to be frozen pursuant to the Ruling.
On 26 July 2021, Shandong Hongri received a copy of a
notice for assistance for enforcement (BhEATTHRENIE)
dated 21 July 2021 from Linyi Court to Linyi Immovable
Assets Registration Centre (the “Registry”) requiring the
assistance of the Registry in order to enforce the ruling
by “freezing” three plots of land owned by Shandong
Hongri (the "Frozen Assets”) for the period between 21
July 2021 and 20 July 2024.

On 25 November 2021, the PRC bank had submitted an
application to Linyi Court to withdraw the enforcement.
Pursuant to the written ruling from Linyi Court dated 1
December 2021, such application was approved and the
enforcement was withdrawn.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up to
report date there were no significant litigations would have
material adverse impact on the business, operation and
financial position of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 18
January 2022, on 18 January 2022, the Board proposed to
implement the capital reorganisation which comprises the
following:

a)

every twenty issued and unissued Shares of par value
HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one consolidated share of par value
HK$2.00 each in the share capital of the Company;
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continueq)

b) the capital reduction by which: (i) any fractional
consolidated share in the issued share capital of the
Company arising from the share consolidation shall
be cancelled; and (ii) the issued share capital of the
Company be reduced by cancelling the paid-up capital
to the extent of HK$1.99 on each of the then issued
consolidated Shares such that the par value of each
issued consolidated share will be reduced from HK$2.00
to HK$0.01; and

c) immediately following the capital reduction, each of the
authorised but unissued consolidated share with par
value of HK$2.00 each be sub-divided into two hundred
new shares of par value HK$0.01 each.

Immediately upon the capital reorganisation becoming
effective and assuming there is no change in the
issued share capital of the Company prior to the capital
reorganisation becoming effective, the authorised share
capital of the Company shall be HK$1,300,000,000 divided
into 130,000,000,000 new Shares of par value HK$0.01
each, of which 329,219,502 new Shares have been issued
as fully paid or credited as fully paid. A credit amounting
to approximately HK$655,146,809 will arise as a result
of the capital reduction and it is proposed that the credit
arising from the capital reduction will be credited to the
contributed surplus account of the Company. Further
details were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 18 January 2022.

As also disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated 18
January 2022, on 18 January 2022, the Company proposed to
implement, subject to the approval by the Hong Kong Court,
the proposed scheme of arrangement for the Company to be
made between the Company and the creditors who had made
a claim (the Creditors’ Scheme).

The Creditors’ Scheme comprises (i) the term extension option;
(ii) the convertible bonds swap option; and (iii) a combination
of the aforementioned two options. Each scheme creditor with
admitted claims is entitled, to the extent of the total value of
his/her/its admitted Claim(s), to elect between options (i), (ii)
and (iii) above.

The Creditors’ Scheme was approved by the requisite statutory
majorities of the scheme creditors on 1 March 2022 and the
sanction hearing was scheduled on 27 May 2022. Further
details were set out in the Company’'s announcements dated
18 January 2022 and 1 March 2022.
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bh, FRETIENEGRE B IFERER Lh. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BEMBHRENR-_ZZ_F=H The consolidated financial statements were approved and
S+ HREESESTSHEREE authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March
FIED » 2022.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A B FFAREEZI B MR 2 Hh —

This summary does not form part of the audited financial

B9 © statements.
e RESULTS
S BZ Bz S
“E-tF “E-)\% “E-hE b St 23 “E--F
t=A=t-B +ZA=t-R 1ZA=1-0 t-RA=1-0 EErEas
LEFE LEFE I:3::4 LEE I:3:3
For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended 31 ended ended
31 December 31 December December 31 December 31 December
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
FhEn TR FhEn TEn ThEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E5)
(Restated)
M) HSE i) 3 (i)
T M (i) R Gi) M (i)
Note (i) and Note (i) and Note (i) and
Note (i) Note (ii) Note (ii)
BELERE Continuing operations
WA Revenue 1,158,260 1537781 1,515,291 744836 416,060
anER/ (B8) Profit/(loss) before tax 233073 267526 263128 (68,648) (326,725)
igEa Income tax (55,291) (49,835) (53,396) (5,363) (5,158)
AEERE Profit/(loss) for the year
BEEEEKEF/(BB)  fromcontinuing operations 177,782 217691 209,732 (76,011) (331,883)
RECKIHEEEKZEH,/  Profit/(loss) from
(B#8) discontinued operations 6,285 68,169 - - -
AEERH/ (B#B) Profit/(loss) for the year 184,067 285,860 209,732 (76,011) (331,883)
DTALREEER,/(B8) :  Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
ARAREREA Equity holders of the Company 168320 285772 209,732 (76,011) (331,883)
FIEHIMER Non-controlling interests 15,747 88 - - -
AEEER/ (BR) Profit/(loss) for the year 184,067 285,860 209732 (74,011) (331,883)
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EEHAHE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

RIB-tE RIE-NE RIB-HE RCIS"EE et ety
+-A=t-B t+zZA=t-B +zZA=1t-B +zA=t-H B

As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
TEn TEn Thn TEn TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BERE () FEEE () HERE G)
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
EERE Total assets 2,558,801 2372218 2,554,324 2,556,832 2,360,619
B Total liabilities (1,435,557) (1,101,001) (1,166,437) (1,104910) (1,171,677)
1123244 12217 1,387,887 1451922 1,188,942
RARIRESE AEIERE  Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company 1,131,080 121217 1,387,887 1,451922 1,188,942
TGRS Non-controlling interests (7,836) - - - -
1123244 12217 1,387,887 1,451,922 1,188,942
B eE - Note:
(i) ¥ERBERBEZULBETNREEFES F% (i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared based
ZEFFERMBR - on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.
(ii) AEEB 2V BNEE—_T-NF+=ZA=+—H (i) The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year ended 31
IEFEZBERIEEEEBR L EBOEERIE - December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.
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